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QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Whether a federal district court has the 
power to entertain a motion to modify or amend the 
estimated restitution amount in a Type B plea 
agreement, without objection by the Government, in 
order to conform that agreement to the 
constitutionally narrowed terms of the honest 
services fraud statute on which that restitution 
estimate was based?

2. Whether this Court’s decision in 
Skilling v. United States rendered the honest 
services portion of this plea agreement 
unconstitutional because it was premised on a 
variable theory of fiduciary duty based on undefined 
“trust and confidence” factors without precedent in 
the pre-McNally case law in which Skilling was 
grounded?



RULE 14.1(B) STATEMENT

Petitioner is Michael P.S. Scanlon. 

Respondent is the United States of America. 

There are no other parties to this proceeding.
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OPINIONS BELOW

The opinion of the United States Court of 
Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit 
(Appendix (“App.”) A, la-7a) is unreported. The 
memorandum opinion and order of the United States 
District Court for the District of Columbia (App. C, 
10a -22a) is also unreported.

JURISDICTION

The decision of the United States Court of 
Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit was 
issued on January 20, 2012. This petition is filed 
within ninety days of that date. Accordingly, this 
Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. Section 
2254 (1).

CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY 
PROVISIONS INVOLVED

In pertinent part, the Fifth Amendment 
provides: “No person shall . . .  be deprived of life, 
liberty, or property, without due process of law.” 
U.S. Const. Amend. V.

The honest services fraud statute provides: 
“For the purposes of this chapter, the term ‘scheme 
or artifice to defraud’ includes a scheme or artifice to 
deprive another of the intangible right of honest 
services.” 18 U.S.C. Section 1346.
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Prior to this Court’s decision in Skilling v. 
United States, 130 S. Ct. 2896 (2010), Petitioner 
Michael P.S. Scanlon (“Scanlon”) entered a guilty 
plea under Rule 11(c)(1)(B) of the Federal Rules of 
Criminal Procedure to violating the federal 
conspiracy statute, in part through the commission 
of honest services fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. 
Section 1346. The plea agreement contained an 
“estimated” restitution amount of “$19,698,644” for 
“ [t]he loss to the victims,” subject to the district 
court’s final determination at sentencing. The 
honest services portion of Scanlon’s plea was the 
driver of this estimated restitution amount.

After this Court’s decision in Skilling and well 
before his sentencing, Scanlon moved to modify or 
amend, inter alia, the estimated restitution amount 
in his plea agreement because of his view that 
Skilling’s narrowing of the honest services fraud 
statute rendered the honest services portion of his 
plea unconstitutional. The Government defended 
against Scanlon’s motion on the merits, without any 
objection to its procedural propriety, and the district 
court denied Scanlon’s motion on the merits. 
Scanlon appealed.

On appeal, the Government raised a new 
argument: that the district court lacked the power to 
consider Scanlon’s motion. In a sparse four-and-one- 
quarter page opinion below, a panel of the United 
States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia 
Circuit (“the D.C. Circuit”) agreed and ruled that the 
district court had no power even to consider

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
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Scanlon’s motion because “courts are not authorized 
to order modification or amendment of plea 
agreements.”

This petition followed.

FACTS

On February 22, 2004, the Washington Post 
published an article entitled “A Jackpot From Indian 
Gaming Tribes: Lobbying, PR Firms Paid $45 
Million Over 3 Years.”1 In that article, Post 
Reporter Susan Schmidt detailed how lobbyist Jack 
Abramoff from Greenberg Traurig (“GT”) and public 
relations executive Michael Scanlon from Capitol 
Campaign Strategies (“CCS”) had been paid these 
sums for their work on behalf of certain Native 
American Tribes which were running gambling 
casinos. The Post story led to questions on Capitol 
Hill about the legitimacy of such large fees, and 
shortly thereafter the United States Senate 
Committee on Indian Affairs began an inquiry into 
Abramoff s and Scanlon’s work for these tribes.

A. The Federal Investigation

Roughly contemporaneously with the Indian 
Affairs Committee’s inquiry, the United States 
Department of Justice (“the Government”) opened a 
criminal investigation into the business practices of 
Abramoff, Scanlon and others working with them. 
This federal investigation had two primary aspects: 
1) determination of whether the Native American

1 Susan Schmidt, A Jackpot from Indian Gaming Tribes, 
Wash. Post (Feb. 22, 2004).
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Tribes had been defrauded by Abramoff and/or 
Scanlon; and 2) determination of whether 
Congressmen and staffers on Capitol Hill had been 
bribed by Abramoff and/or Scanlon in exchange for 
favorable treatment to their tribal clients and others.

B. Scanlon’s Guilty Plea

On November 21, 2005, Scanlon pled guilty in 
the United States District Court for the District of 
Columbia to a single count, multi-pronged 
conspiracy in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371. One of 
those prongs involved honest services fraud in 
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1346. In this regard, Scanlon 
pled guilty to conspiring with Abramoff to defraud 
certain of Abramoff s Native American Tribe clients 
of their right to Abramoffs “honest services” by 
paying Abramoff an undisclosed fee for 
recommending that those tribal clients hire 
Scanlon’s company. According to the Government’s 
Information, this honest services fraud accounted for 
$19,699,000 worth of losses attributable to the 
conspiracy, which losses led to an “estimated” 
restitution amount of “$19,698,644” in Scanlon’s plea 
agreement.

At the time of this plea, the Government’s 
fiduciary duty theory underlying the honest services 
component of Scanlon’s plea was not based upon any 
duty that Abramoff owed to his clients as an 
employee of law firm GT. Abramoff was not a 
lawyer, he was simply a lobbyist, and accordingly 
there was no mention at the time of Scanlon’s plea of 
any fiduciary duty arising from legal ethics rules. 
Instead, the Government’s fiduciary duty theory was
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that tribal clients who had hired Abramoff more 
than once were, by virtue of such repeat hiring, 
relying upon an ongoing relationship of factual trust 
and confidence with Abramoff which gave rise to his 
fiduciary duty to provide them with his “honest 
services.”

By its terms, the Government’s fiduciary duty 
theory necessarily conceded that Abramoff owed no 
such fiduciary duty to any tribal client, and thus no 
tribal client had any right to Abramoffs honest 
services, during the course of their initial business 
relationship. Instead, it was only if, and when, that 
business relationship was renewed that this 
fiduciary duty based on the client’s then-developed 
“trust and confidence” in Abramoff -  with its 
concomitant right to Abramoffs honest services -  
arose. In reliance on this distinction, the documents 
filed in the district court surrounding Scanlon’s plea
-  the Information, Plea Agreement and Factual 
Basis (see App s. E & F) -  were all very carefully 
calibrated to deliberately identify only certain fees 
paid to Abramoff by Scanlon in connection with 
tribal clients who had hired Abramoff more than 
once and only the fees paid in connection with those 
successive hirings (not the initial ones) as the basis 
for the honest services fraud charges, and the 
estimated restitution amount based on those 
charges.

C. Scanlon’s Cooperation With The 
Government

As a result of his becoming the first individual 
to enter a guilty plea in the Abramoff investigation, 
Scanlon also became the first cooperator to commit
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to assist the Government with its investigation. For 
the next five years, Scanlon provided substantial 
cooperation to the Government with respect to this 
investigation and others. In acknowledgment of this 
cooperation, at Scanlon’s sentencing, the 
Government candidly recognized that Scanlon’s 
cooperation had “crack[ed] open the entire criminal 
conspiracy,” resulting in “20 convictions.”

D. This Court’s Decision In Skilling

Four years and seven months into Scanlon’s 
cooperation, this Court issued its decision in Skilling 
v. United States, supra. In Skilling, the Court 
addressed the growing chorus of constitutional 
challenges to the vagueness of the honest services 
fraud statute’s sparse text proscribing “a scheme or 
artifice to deprive another of the intangible right of 
honest services.” 18 U.S.C. § 1346. The Court began 
its analysis by finding that “[t]here is no doubt that 
Congress intended § 1346 to refer to and incorporate 
the honest services doctrine recognized in Court of 
Appeals’ decisions before McNally derailed the 
intangible rights theory of fraud.” 130 S. Ct. at 
2928. The Skilling Court then quoted with approval 
from the Second Circuit’s “leading analysis” of the 
statute:

The definite article ‘the’ suggests that 
‘intangible right of honest services’ 
had a specific meaning to Congress 
when it enacted the statute — 
Congress was recriminalizing mail 
and wire fraud schemes to deprive 
others of that ‘intangible right of 
honest services,’ which had been
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protected before McNally, not all 
intangible rights of honest services 
whatever they might be thought to be.

Id. at 2929 (quoting United States v. Rybicki, 354 
F.3d 124, 137-38 (2d Cir. 2003) (en banc)). The 
Court ultimately concluded that the statute’s 
application had to be narrowed significantly in order 
to save it: “[t]o preserve the statute without 
transgressing constitutional limitations, we now 
hold that Section 1346 criminalizes only the bribe- 
and-kickback core of the pre-McNally case law.” Id. 
at 2931.

E. Scanlon’s Motion To Amend His Plea In 
Light Of Skilling

Less than two months after Skilling was 
decided, Scanlon filed a motion to modify or amend 
his plea agreement in conformity with this Court’s 
Skilling decision. In that motion, Scanlon pointed 
out that after Skilling, “Section 1346 criminalizes 
only the bribe-and-kickback core of the pre-McNally 
case law.” As a result, Scanlon argued that “[t]he 
Skilling decision . . . require[d] analysis of whether 
th[e] ‘honest services’ conduct to which Scanlon pled 
guilty falls within ‘the bribe-and-kickback core of the 
pre-McNally case law.’” Scanlon’s motion contended 
that “because the Tribes purported rights to 
Abramoffs ‘honest services’ were predicated upon 
both a fact pattern and a theory of fiduciary duty 
well beyond the ‘core of th[is] pre-McNally case law,’ 
no ‘honest services’ fraud charge can be 
constitutionally maintained against Scanlon’s 
conduct. Accordingly, his plea agreement must now
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be modified or amended to strike such ‘honest 
services’ fraud charges.”

In response to Scanlon’s motion, the 
Government argued — in essence -  that the Skilling 
decision had approved any and all bribe or kickback 
cases for prosecution under the honest services fraud 
statute. “The central thrust of the Skilling opinion 
was to remove certain forms of deceptive and corrupt 
conduct from the scope of Section 1346, and leave 
others intact. After Skilling, schemes involving 
undisclosed self-dealing no longer fall within Section 
1346, but schemes involving bribes and kickbacks 
remain covered, as they have been for decades. By 
their plain terms, the defendant’s Factual Basis for 
his plea and the Information to which he pled guilty 
set forth a classic kickback scheme in which 
defendant secretly kicked back millions of dollars to 
Jack Abramoff.”

In addition, the Government’s response to 
Scanlon’s motion endeavored - for the first time 
anywhere in the history of this case -  to establish a 
basis for Abramoffs fiduciary duty to his tribal 
clients through District of Columbia legal ethics 
rules. As the Government put it, “[t]he existence of a 
fiduciary relationship between Abramoff and his 
client is also established by the law. During the 
relevant period, Rule 5.3 of the District of Columbia 
Rules of Professional Responsibility provided that 
lobbyists who were employed in law firms comprised 
of lawyers who were bound by the rules of 
professional conduct had the fiduciary duties of a 
lawyer to his prospective and existing clients. Rule 
5.3 provided in pertinent part: ‘With respect to a 
nonlawyer employed or retained by or associated
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with a lawyer: A partner in a law firm shall make 
reasonable efforts to ensure that the firm has in 
effect measures giving reasonable assurance that the 
person’s conduct is compatible with the professional 
obligations of the lawyer.’”

Scanlon filed a brief reply memorandum 
countering each of the Government’s arguments. In 
particular, Scanlon chastized the Government for 
endeavoring to change the fiduciary duty theory it 
had relied upon throughout this case in response to 
his motion. “Rather than defending the merits of 
this [original fiduciary duty] theory under Skilling, 
though, the Government’s opposition endeavors to 
rely upon an entirely new basis for Abramoffs 
fiduciary duty of ‘honest services’ to his Tribal 
clients -  District of Columbia Bar Rules. While this 
newfound reliance on legal ethics falls of its own 
weight for the reasons set forth below, its mere 
invocation at this point -  five years after Scanlon’s 
plea — is telling: even after Skilling, the 
Government still believes that Section 1346 is an 
elastic statute which can be stretched this way or 
that in its discretion to meet the differing needs of 
varying fact patterns as they arise. But that is 
assuredly not how the Skilling Court intended to 
leave the application of this controversial statute.”

F. The Hearing On Scanlon’s Motion

On November 23, 2010, the district court held 
a hearing on Scanlon’s motion. Scanlon’s counsel 
opened the argument by positing a three-step 
analysis for the court:
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“The first question is, did the Skilling 
Court save the honest services fraud 
statute by saying it only applies to bribes 
or kickbacks of any variety, as the 
Government says, or did it save the honest 
services fraud statute by saying that the 
statute applies to ‘only the bribe and 
kickback core of the pre-McNally case law,’ 
which is what the Court wrote in its 
holding?”

- The second question is “what the bribe and 
kickback core of the pre-McNally case law 
is? What does that mean? How does that 
inform what the Court was holding under 
the statute?”

- “Then the third question would be if we 
figure out what the bribe and kickback 
core of the pre-McNally case law means, 
where does Mr. Scanlon’s plea fit within 
that? Does it fit within that core or not?”

The district judge then asked: “How would I 
divine what is core versus non-core?” Scanlon’s 
counsel responded: “I think that what Your Honor 
needs to do is look at all of the qualifiers that the 
Court used. So when the Court held the statute was 
constitutional only insofar as it criminalizes ‘only the 
bribe and kickback core of the pre-McNally 
[caselaw]’, the fact that it says ‘the’ bribe and 
kickback core under standard principles of statutory 
construction that ‘the’ refers to something. It refers 
to the core cases, the core holdings in the pre- 
McNally case law. I have some other language from
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the opinion that will make that clear, Your Honor, if 
you would like.”

The district judge next asked: “Was there 
anything pre-McNally that would say that . . . there 
is a distinction among kickback schemes?” Scanlon’s 
counsel replied: “Yes, Your Honor. I have looked at 
the pre-McNally case law. . . . [Y]ou can do it within 
a matter of minutes on the computer now. . . .  I 
framed a search to capture everything, 18 U.S.C. 
1341 or 1343 and bribe [o]r kickback and honest 
services or intangible rights, dated before July 1, 
1987 because McNally was decided on June 24, 1987. 
[The search] came up with a large number of cases 
but not unmanageable. There are 57 of them, Your 
Honor. When you look at those cases, the . . . fact 
pattern of the bribes and kickbacks is actually 
striking, amazing.” Scanlon’s counsel then advised 
the district judge that “thirty-five of those cases 
involve bribes or kickbacks paid to public officials . . . 
fifteen of those cases involve bribes or kickbacks paid 
to an employee [and] five of those cases involve 
bribes or kickbacks paid to union officials.” 
(emphasis added).

Scanlon’s counsel then tied the above
described numerical analysis of the pre-McNally 
case law to the Skilling Court’s examples of the pre- 
McNally case law, as articulated in footnote 42 of the 
Court’s opinion: “55 out of [the] 57 [cases are in] 
exactly the three categories [of] examples identified 
by the Skilling Court in footnote 42 of its opinion. 
The majority says Justice Scalia complains that the 
fiduciary duty standard is capable of manipulation!]
[b]ut in the pre-McNally case law, the fiduciary duty 
was usually beyond dispute in the bribe and
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kickback cases. . . . the Court says [citing] public 
official-public, employer-employee [and] union 
official-union . . . .  fact patterns. They didn’t pull 
those out of thin air, Your Honor, because look at the 
numbers, that’s over 96 percent of the pre-McNally 
case law [according to my research] i[n] exactly those 
three categories.”

Scanlon’s counsel concluded his argument by 
telling the district judge: “The question is whether 
th[is] fiduciary duty [theory] is one of the core 
applications in the pre-McNally case law that is a 
valid honest services fraud theory post-Skilling. Mr. 
Scanlon is not trying to walk away from anything he 
has admitted. He has accepted responsibility. He 
has cooperated for five years now. The next step, as 
Your Honor knows, will be his sentencing. He will 
want to get some credit for that cooperation. It is 
not a factual dispute. It is a legal question, almost a 
jurisdictional question. Is this conduct any longer an 
honest services fraud offense under 1346?”

At the hearing, the Government’s counsel 
informed the district judge that “it is the 
department’s position that what Skilling stands for 
is that what survives is fiduciary duty involving 
bribery and kickback schemes. That’s the core. . . . 
And we think that a plain reading of Skilling 
supports the view that the list of examples provided 
in the opinion can’t possibly be the exhaustive list of 
situations in which a fiduciary duty arises together 
with a bribery or kickback scheme to constitute an 
honest services violation.”

The district judge then asked the Government 
counsel: “Why did the Government take the position
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that the fiduciary duty only arose after the initial 
retention?” The Government counsel responded: 
“For a variety of reasons, Your Honor. But the 
central reason was because that is where the parties 
could agree that there was a fiduciary duty. . . . So, 
there were discussions about whether there was a 
violation at the first pitch, whether there were 
violations at later instances. What the part[ies] 
could agree on was that there was a firmly 
established fiduciary duty that was breached at the 
time that Abramoff was already providing services, 
already attempting to induce his clients to rely on 
his superior knowledge and expertise when he 
recommends that they need grassroots lobbying 
services and that Scanlon and the price he charges 
are in their best interest.”

The district judge also asked the Government 
counsel: “Are you aware of any other pre-McNally 
cases . . . that involve other relationships [beyond 
those identified in footnote 42 of the Skilling 
opinion]? Just out of curiosity. Mr. Braga did a very 
good job with his Westlaw.” The Government 
counsel replied: “Not of reported opinions, Your 
Honor.”

G. The District Court’s Denial Of Scanlon’s
Motion

One week after the hearing, the district judge 
issued a memorandum opinion and order denying 
Scanlon’s motion. The district judge began by noting 
that if Scanlon’s argument was “correct, this 
conclusion would have material consequences for 
Scanlon’s sentencing offense level and restitution.”
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But the judge then determined that “Scanlon’s 
interpretation of Skilling is erroneous.”

The district judge reasoned that “Scanlon 
reads too much into . . . footnote [42 of Skilling],” 
concluding that “[s]imply because defendant has 
found a set of common traits among the pre-McNally 
cases does not mean that this is the only way to 
conceptualize this body of case law, and at no point 
did Skilling hold that these three fiduciary 
relationships marked the outer boundaries of Section 
1346.”

Finally, the district judge found that Scanlon’s 
motion was premised on a misinterpretation of “the 
phrase ‘only the bribe-and-kickback core of the pre- 
McNally case law’ as if it instead reads: ‘only bribe- 
and-kickback cases within the core of pre-McNally 
case law.’” The district judge believed instead that 
“ [t]he Skilling majority . . . .  used the term ‘core' not, 
as Scanlon would have it, to distinguish ‘core bribe- 
and-kickback' cases from non-core bribe-and- 
kickback cases,' but rather to distinguish bribery 
and kickback cases (which themselves constitute the 
‘core' of pre-McNally case law) from cases involving 
mere undisclosed self-dealing.”

H. Scanlon’s Sentencing

On February 11, 2011, Scanlon was sentenced. 
After being given substantial credit for his 
cooperation -  “[t]he government recognizes that Mr. 
Scanlon’s conduct and cooperation was critical in 
unraveling this investigation” — Scanlon was 
sentenced to serve twenty months in prison and to 
pay restitution in the amount of $20,191,181.31 as
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determined by the district judge at sentencing. The 
restitution amount so ordered was, thus, higher than 
that “estimated” in Scanlon’s plea agreement.

I. Scanlon’s Appeal

Scanlon appealed the denial of his motion to 
the D.C. Circuit.2 In its opposition brief on that 
appeal, the Government argued for the first time 
anywhere in the course of these proceedings that no 
district court could ever grant the relief sought by 
Scanlon because a “court may ‘accept or reject . . . 
the plea, but it may not modify it.” Govt. Br. at 19.

Scanlon countered that the Government had 
waived this new argument that the district court 
lacked the power to entertain his motion by never 
raising that argument below. Scanlon Reply Br. at 3 
(quoting Singleton v. Wulff, 428 U.S. 106, 120 
(1976)).3 Scanlon also maintained that this new

2 Because of an appeal waiver in the plea agreement for any 
sentence within the maximum provided in the statute of 
conviction, both parties agreed in the Circuit Court that 
Scanlon could not appeal his sentence of twenty months in 
prison because it was within the maximum, but that he could 
still appeal his restitution order because -  in the Government’s 
own words -  a “restitution order for loss not traceable to [the] 
offense of conviction exceeds the statutory maximum.” Govt. 
Br. at 23 n.6.
3 Alternatively, the Government’s failure to object to the 
district court’s power to act below can also be viewed as its 
consent to proceeding in the manner undertaken by the parties 
in that court because of the critical fact that the Government 
was the only other party to the plea agreement. Thus, both 
parties to the agreement sought the district court’s review of 
this new constitutional issue raised by the Skilling decision.
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“argument is clearly wrong.” Id. “Under the 
Government’s new ‘appellate view’ of the world, a 
defendant who has pled guilty to conduct which is 
subsequently ruled noncriminal must remain subject 
to the provisions of his plea agreement based upon 
that conduct and its consequences. If that is true, 
then it must be equally true -  according to the 
Government -  that one could plead guilty to 
something which is not a crime at all, so long as 
there was agreement about it. It hardly seems 
consistent with due process for this postulate or its 
corollary to be the law.” Id. at 3-4 (citing Charles 
Alan Wright & Andrew D. Leipold, Federal Practice 
and Procedure: Criminal Section 179 at 264 (4th ed. 
2008)(“The goal of Rule 11(b)(3) is to prevent a 
defendant who committed no crime from pleading 
guilty to one.”)).

Scanlon’s appeal was argued on November 14, 
2011 before a D.C. Circuit panel comprised of Chief 
Judge Sentelle, Circuit Judge Tatel and Senior 
Circuit Judge Edwards. At the outset of the oral 
argument, the following exchange occurred:

Judge Sentelle: The troubling 
thing, or a troubling thing is 
what you want us to do about it.
You seem to be wanting us to 
remake a plea bargain for you.
Can the Court do that?

Mr. Braga: Well, Your Honor, no, the 
Court can’t remake a plea 
bargain, but that’s not what 
were asking the Court to do.
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(App. D at 26a). Thereafter, the following pertinent 
exchanges took place as well:

Judge Sentelle: And the
Government I think rightly says 
the Courts can’t do that.

Mr. Braga: Well, and the interesting 
thing, Your Honor, Chief Judge 
Sentelle, is that the 
Government never made that 
argument below, and the reason 
they didn’t make it —

Judge Sentelle: I mean, if that goes 
to the power of the Court to ask, 
that speaks of a jurisdictional 
issue, does it not, so that it 
could be raised for the first time 
on appeal?

*  *  ★

Mr. Braga: Well, the Court could 
have said below if it found 
Skilling applicable, which it 
didn’t so we never got to the 
second stage of the process, 
what are we going to do? What 
are we going to do about this 
now? We’re going to have to 
withdraw the plea. We’ve laid 
out in our briefs the mutual 
mistake analysis, the contract 
analogy, this -  if we’re right 
about Skilling, this plea
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agreement was based on a 
mutual mistake of [fact].

*  *  *

Mr. Braga: The District Court 
recognized in its memorandum 
opinion ruling against Mr. 
Scanlon on the Skilling issue 
that if we were right on Skilling 
it would have an impact on 
sentence and restitution. Okay. 
Sentencing is gone now, we’re 
not before this Court asking for 
any relief on sentencing, there’s 
an appeal waiver, once the 
sentence was within the 
statutory maximum and the 
appeal came up there’s no 
question of his imprisonment. 
The only issue left before this 
Court is the restitution 
order.. .

Judge Sentelle: But what is before 
us as Judge Tatel suggests is a 
pleading in which you sought 
one form of relief, the Court did 
not grant that form of relief, if 
the Court couldn’t grant that 
form of relief then all that’s left 
for us to do is affirm, is it not?

Mr. Braga: Well, the way Your 
Honor has analyzed it is one 
way to look at it. Another way
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to look at it is the plea 
agreement says restitution is 
solely up to the discretion of the 
Court. The Court has to 
determine at the time of 
sentencing who are the victims 
of the offenses for which there’s 
a plea, and then determine who 
gets mandatory restitution. So, 
this was not a (C) plea where 
the restitution amount was 
agreed to as in United States u. 
Goodall, this is a plea where it 
was left up to the discretion of 
the Judge, and another way to 
look at the motion that was 
made here was for her to impact 
the restitution amount in her 
final analysis by saying Skilling 
honest services fraud 
restitution, the number needs to 
change because it’s
unconstitutional on these facts. 
This was not a (C) plea, this 
was within the judge’s 
discretion to adjust the 
restitution amount.

★  ★  *

Judge Sentelle: Okay. And you 
can’t give me a source of power 
for the Court to do that.

Mr. Braga: I just gave you an 
alternative source of power,
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Your Honor, the power to adjust 
the restitution amount in the 
plea, which is all that’s left 
here.

Judge Sentelle: But that was all 
part of a bargained] plea. So, 
as Judge Tatel says, you’re 
wanting to maintain the parts 
of the plea that are beneficial to 
you, but strike those that aren’t.

Mr. Braga: No, I disagree with that,
Judge Sentelle. The
bargained] plea was for 
restitution as required by the 
statute. If we’re right on 
Skilling that restitution is not 
required by the statute, it 
wasn’t a [C] plea, that 
discretion was left up to the 
Judge for [the] restitution 
amount, that’s the
determination she had the 
power to make.

(App. D at 30a-36a).

J. The D.C. Circuit’s Decision

On January 20, 2012, the D.C. Circuit denied 
Scanlon’s appeal. The Circuit Court’s short decision 
is fairly reflected by the following two sentences 
from its opinion:
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“The district court may accept 
or reject a plea, but it may not 
modify it.” (App. A at 
5a)(quoting United States v. 
Goodall, 236 F.3d 700, 703 
(D.C.Cir. 2001)).

“If we rule that some 
provision of [a] plea 
agreement is invalid, we 
must discard the entire 
agreement and require 
[the defendant] and the 
government to begin their 
bargaining all over again.”
(App. A at 6a)(quoting 
United States v. Barnes, 83 
F.3d 934, 941 (7th Cir. 
1996)).

The D.C. Circuit saw no authorization in federal case 
law, the federal rules or anywhere else empowering 
a federal district court to consider Scanlon’s motion 
to modify or amend his plea agreement in order to 
accommodate the changed constitutional landscape 
effected by this Court’s decision in Skilling.

REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION

At its primary level, the D.C. Circuit’s 
decision exhibits a fundamental misunderstanding of 
the nature of the different plea agreements 
authorized by Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of 
Criminal Procedure, with an unfortunate result 
effectively gutting the power of federal district courts 
to exercise precisely the type of sentencing discretion
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those courts are directed to use in handling Type B 
plea agreements under that rule. Indeed, Rule 11 
itself recognizes that a sentencing “recommendation 
or request” in a Type B plea agreement “does not 
bind the court.” Fed.R.Cr.P. 11(c)(1)(B). For the 
same reason, other Circuit Courts have recognized 
that in a Type B agreement sentencing 
recommendations can be modified by the Court 
because “punishment is not an essential term of the 
plea agreement.” United States v. Barnes, 83 F.3d 
934, 938-939 (7th Cir. 1996); accord, United States v. 
Gillen, 448 F.2d 898, 902-903 (8th Cir. 2006); United 
States v. Bernard, 373 F.3d 339, 343 n.5 (3d Cir. 
2004). Other Circuit Courts have gone even further 
and held that even binding Type C plea agreements 
can be modified “to avoid a miscarriage of justice or 
to correct a mutual mistake.” United States v. 
Teeter, 257 F.3d 14, 28 n.12 (1st Cir. 2001); accord, 
United States v. Peveler, 359 F.3d 369, 378-379 n.4 
(6th Cir. 2004). Yet the D.C. Circuit’s decision 
conflicts squarely with all of these other authorities 
and leaves the district courts impotent to address 
constitutionally required fine-tuning of the pleas 
that come before them. Because “plea bargains have 
become so central to the administration of the 
criminal justice system,” Missouri v. Frye, No. 10- 
444, slip op. at 7 (March 21, 2012),4 it is obviously 
essential that there be uniform federal standards 
surrounding its operation and proper 
implementation by the courts.

On a secondary level, the D.C. Circuit’s 
affirmance of the denial of relief to Scanlon on his

4 Or, as the Frye Court otherwise put it, “plea bargaining . . .  is 
the criminal justice system.” Id.
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motion also conflicts directly with this Court’s 
constitutionally required narrowing of the honest 
services fraud statute in Skilling. Whatever else it 
might or might not have done, the Skilling decision 
squarely bounded the constitutionality of this 
statute in the pre-McNally case law. Yet nowhere in 
that case law is there any example, any parallel, any 
analog or even any hint of the type of fiduciary duty 
theory used to ground the right to honest services 
Scanlon was charged with transgressing. If the 
decisions below and the Government’s honest 
services fraud prosecution theory against Scanlon 
stand, then the honest services fraud statute will 
have regained the due process offending malleability 
which the Skilling Court endeavored to remove from 
the statute’s application by freezing it in the pre- 
McNally case law. This Court’s constitutional “fix” 
of the statute should not be so quickly rendered for 
naught.

I. Resolution Of The Judicial Power 
Conflicts Arising From The First Question 
Presented Is Tremendously Important To 
Ensure Proper, Uniform Administration Of 
The Federal Plea Bargaining System

Rule 11 “divides plea agreements into three 
types, based on what the Government agrees to do: 
in type A agreements, the Government agrees to 
move for dismissal of other charges; in type B, it 
agrees to recommend (or not oppose the defendant’s 
request for) a particular sentence; and in type C, it 
agrees that the defendant should receive a specific 
sentence.” United States u. Hyde, 520 U.S. 670 
(1997); accord, 1A Wright & Leipold, Federal 
Practice and Procedure (Criminal 4th), Section 180 at
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296 (2008)(noting that “there are important 
differences among these three types of agreements”); 
Fed. R. Crim. P. 11(c)(1)(A),(B) & (C).

Scanlon’s plea agreement was a Type B plea 
because, as pertinent herein, that agreement 
“recommend[ed] or agree[d] not to oppose the 
defendant’s request, that a particular sentence or 
sentencing range is appropriate” and expressly 
recognized that “such a recommendation or request 
does not bind the court.” Fed.R.Crim.P. 11(c)(1)(B).5 
Scanlon’s plea agreement did not involve either the 
“dismiss[al] of other charges,” or “a specific sentence” 
which would bind the court. United States u. Hyde, 
supra.

Unfortunately, the D.C. Circuit wholly failed 
to appreciate the proper distinction between these 
different types of plea agreements. For example, the 
Court reasoned that “after the plea agreement has 
been finalized between the government and the 
defendant, the court, when considering a plea 
agreement like the one at issue here, is limited to 
accepting the plea, rejecting it, or deferring a 
decision.” See App A at 4a-5a (citing Fed. R. Crim. 
P. 11(c)(3)(A)). But that provision of Rule 11, by its 
terms, only applies to “type . . . (A) or (C)” 
agreements. Similarly, the DC Circuit next cited its 
decision in United States v. Goodall, 236 F.3d 700

5 See United States u. Gillen, supra (defendant should have 
understood that plea agreement was a Type B agreement 
where it explicitly stated that its sentencing recommendation 
was not binding on the court); United States v. Bernard, supra 
(“unlike a Rule 11(c)(1)(C) agreement, a Rule 11 (c)(1)(B) 
agreement ‘does not bind the court’”).



25

(D.C.Cir. 2001) to support its analysis; Goodall 
involved a Type C plea agreement. Id. at 701-702.

At oral argument, in order to emphasize this 
key distinction, counsel for Scanlon repeatedly 
advised the D.C. Circuit directly that this case did 
NOT involve a Type C agreement. He additionally 
argued to the Court in terms that made it otherwise 
obvious that Scanlon’s plea agreement was not a 
Type C agreement, which a review of the plea and 
sentencing papers in the case also confirm on their 
face. Unfortunately, the D.C. Circuit still got it 
completely wrong in approaching this case as if it 
involved a Type C plea agreement. It did not.

As the authoritative treatise on federal 
practice puts it, “Type B Agreements are treated 
differently. Because a Type B deal contemplates a 
recommendation only and does not provide for any 
particular disposition, there is nothing about the 
plea bargain for the court to accept or reject. To 
ensure the defendant understands the nonbinding 
character of the request, the court must advise a 
defendant who has entered into a Type B agreement 
that if the court does not follow the sentencing 
recommendation or request, the defendant 
nevertheless has no right to withdraw his plea.” 
Wright & Leipold, supra, Section 180 at 306-307.6

6 As the Advisory Committee Note to the 1979 amendment of 
Rule 11(e)(2) puts it: “A (B) type of plea agreement is clearly of 
a different order than the other two, for an agreement to 
recommend or not to oppose is discharged when the prosecutor 
performs as he agreed to do. By comparison, critical to a type 
(A) or (C) agreement is that the defendant receive the 
contemplated charge dismissal or agreed-to sentence. 
Consequently, there must ultimately be an acceptance or
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Paragraph 14 of Scanlon’s plea agreement expressly 
advised him precisely to this effect:

14. The United States can not and 
does not make any promise or 
representation as to what sentence the 
defendant will receive or what fines or 
restitution the defendant may be 
ordered to pay. The defendant 
understands that the sentence in this 
case will be determined solely by the 
Court, with the assistance of the 
United States Probation Office and 
that the Court may impose the 
maximum sentence permitted by law.
The Court is not obligated to follow the 
recommendations of either party at the 
time of sentencing. The defendant will 
not be permitted to withdraw his plea 
regardless of the sentence 
recommended by the Probation Office 
or the sentence imposed by the Court.

App. F at 59a (emphases added).7

Ironically, this key distinction was also 
expressly recognized in one of the very plea 
agreement precedents cited by the D.C. Circuit, 
United States v. Barnes, 83 F.3d 934 (7th Cir. 1996).

rejection by the court of a type (A) or type (C) agreement . . .. 
But this is not so as to a type (B) agreement [since] there is no 
‘disposition provided for’ in such plea agreement.”
7 Or as District Judge Huvelle put it during the Rule 11 plea 
colloquy: “Obviously, the Court retains ultimate discretion as to 
the sentence.”
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In Barnes, the Seventh Circuit explained it as 
follows:

When the Government proposes a plea 
agreement, when the defendant 
accepts it and when the district court 
enforces it, there must be a meeting of 
minds on all of its essential terms. . . .

The precise nature of the punishment 
that will be imposed after a plea is 
effected is not always an essential 
term of the plea agreement. Although 
punishment is related to culpability, 
punishment itself is not a subject of 
every plea agreement. In some 
situations, of course, it can be. When 
the Government and a defendant 
enter into a plea agreement under 
Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 
11(e)(1)(C), the punishment is 
specified as an essential term of the 
agreement because the guilty plea is 
exchanged for the imposition of a 
specific sentence, and the district 
court that enforces the agreement is 
bound by this term.

On the other hand, when the 
Government and a defendant agree on 
a guilty plea regulated by Rule 
11(e)(1)(B), the punishment is not an 
essential term of the plea agreement.
The agreement is complete when the 
parties agree on the nature and extent 
of the defendant’s culpability. They
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leave the determination of a sentence 
to the discretion of the district court, 
as guided by the sentencing guidelines 
and by the applicable criminal 
statutes. A proper plea colloquy 
informs the defendant of the 
contingent nature of the sentence. See 
Fed.R.Crim.P. 11(e)(3).

Id. at 938-939 (case citations omitted). The Seventh 
Circuit then employed this analysis directly, 
upholding Mr. Barnes plea against a sentencing 
challenge “[bjecause his plea agreement fell under 
Rule 11(e)(1)(B) [and] the nature of the punishment 
was not an essential term of that agreement.” Id. at 
939 (emphasis added).8

Yet, one aspect of “the nature of the 
punishment” — the restitution amount - was all that 
was at issue on Scanlon’s appeal. The district court 
recognized that if Scanlon was right on his Skilling 
argument, “this conclusion would have material 
consequences for Scanlon’s . . . restitution.” App. C 
at 11a. But that consequence was not a product of 
Scanlon’s “rebargaining” his deal as feared by the 
D.C. Circuit. Rather, it was a product of redefining 
the constitutionally proper victims entitled to 
restitution in the narrowed honest services fraud

8 In a different aspect of its ruling in Barnes, the Seventh 
Circuit also considered a challenge by Ms. Barnes to the 
validity of her separate plea under “Rule 11(e)(1)(C).” Id. at 
941. Under that Type C plea, the Seventh Circuit found that 
“Ms. Barnes’ plea agreement, with all its terms, bound her 
when she entered her plea according to the agreement and 
when the district court accepted her plea. Id. (citing Rule 
11(e)(3)).
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circumstances resulting from this Court’s decision in 
Skilling. Nothing more, and nothing less.9

Indeed, at one point in the argument below, 
Chief Judge Sentelle of the D.C. Circuit even 
acknowledged that “it is right . . . that if the Skilling 
analysis applies the identity of victims might be 
different, and therefore the amount of restitution 
might be different.” App. D at 39a. But he, and the 
other members of the appellate court, then 
ultimately failed to understand how such an 
adjustment of the restitution amount could be made 
for a defendant who had entered a Type B guilty 
plea without upsetting the entire plea agreement. 
But that understanding is the key to the distinction 
between Type B plea agreements and other types.

The D.C. Circuit cited five plea agreement 
precedents, and one breach of contract precedent, in 
its decision. Of the plea agreement precedents cited 
by the Court, and in the order cited by the Court, 
Goodall, supra, McClure u. Ashcroft, 335 F.3d 404, 
413 (5th Cir. 2003),10 the portion of United States v. 
Barnes, 83 F.3d 934, 941 (7th Cir. 1996) relating to

9 It is noteworthy that, among other things, Scanlon reserved 
the express right in his plea agreement to argue for “offsets” 
against the “estimated” restitution amount, App. F at 53a, 
which would obviously only possibly have the effect of driving 
the restitution amount lower than “estimated” in the 
agreement.
10 McClure is an unusual precedent addressing primarily the 
question of third-party prudential standing to challenge special 
terms of a defendant’s guilty plea and addressing the finality of 
such pleas in passing in doing so. See 335 F.3d at 413. In 
doing so, McClure relied almost entirely on United, States v. 
Ritsema, 89 F.3d 392 (7th Cir. 1996). See id.
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Ms. Barnes plea (see n. 8, supra) and United States 
v. Bernard, 373 F.3d 339, 345 n. 7 (3d Cir. 2004) all 
involved Type C plea agreements. Putting those 
plainly distinguishable Type C plea agreement 
precedents to one side leaves United States v. 
Ritsema, 89 F.3d 392, 399 (7th Cir. 1996) as the only 
non-Type C plea agreement precedent relied upon by 
the D.C. Circuit. Ritsema, however, is nothing like 
this case.

In Ritsema, the Seventh Circuit confronted a 
situation where its prior remand for resentencing led 
the district court sua sponte to “withdr[a]w its prior 
acceptance of the plea agreement and reinstate!] 
Count I . . . which had been dismissed pursuant to 
that agreement.” 89 F.3d at 396. As the Court 
plainly put it, “[t]he sole basis for the district court’s 
determination to withdraw its prior approval of the 
plea agreement was its belief, derived from our 
opinion in the prior appeal, that it had erred in 
deeming the count to which Ritsema pled guilty 
adequately representative of his criminal conduct.” 
Id. at 400. Ritsema’s plea agreement “contained 
provisions referenced in both [Type] (A) and [Type] 
(B)” agreements, id. at 397, and it was the district 
court’s reversal of Type A relief — reinstatement of 
the previously dismissed Count I — which created 
the prejudice to the defendant. See generally n. 5, 
supra. It was in this context that the Seventh 
Circuit noted that Rule 11 “plainly contemplates 
that plea agreements executed pursuant to [Type] 
(A) or (C) — in contrast to the precatory nature of 
agreements made under [Type] (B) — are binding on 
the district court,” id. at 400 (emphasis added), in 
order to protect the defendant’s rights.
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Nothing in Ritsema remotely approaches the 
situation here, where a defendant has moved the 
district court -  without objection from the 
Government - to make a legal determination prior to 
sentencing as to whether a supervening decision by 
this Court renders some of the conduct underlying a 
nonbinding Type B plea agreement no longer 
criminal. As Judge Spottswood Robinson recognized 
in an earlier D.C. Circuit decision, “[w]hile the judge 
could not disavow the plea bargain once accepted, 
she would presumably have been permitted by Rule 
11 to take into account Robinson’s subsequent 
testimony in imposing the sentence given to 
Robinson since no sentence had been agreed upon in 
the plea.” United States v. Blackwell, 694 F.2d 1325 
(D.C.Cir. 1982)(Robinson, J. concurring)(citing J. 
Bond, Plea Bargaining and Guilty Pleas, Section 
6.17(f) at 6-45 (2d ed. 1982)); accord, Wright & 
Leipold, supra, Section 180 at 301(under a Type B 
Agreement,” [t]he judge is still free to impose any 
proper sentence”). The D.C. Circuit should have 
recognized that same “precatory” possibility here as 
well.11

11 Indeed, in United States v. Teeter, 257 F.3d 14, 28 n.12 (1st 
Cir. 2001), the First Circuit went even further and recognized 
that “there may be a rare case in which relief from [even a 
binding Type C] stipulation [in a plea agreement] would be 
justified to avoid a miscarriage of justice or to correct a mutual 
mistake.” The United States Court of Appeals for the Sixth 
Circuit has agreed, finding that Rule l l ’s provisions binding 
parties to their plea agreements “should not be construed as a 
blanket bar to all such motions for relief’ and endorsing the 
“First Circuit[‘s recognition of] a ‘rare case’ exception to allow 
modification ‘to avoid a miscarriage of justice or to correct a 
mutual mistake.’” United States u. Peueler, 359 F.3d 369, 378-
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Its practical importance aside, the D.C. 
Circuit’s decision is plainly wrong as a matter of 
interpreting both the language of the federal rules 
and the decisions by other courts under those rules. 
The D.C. Circuit’s decision improperly lumps 
together all three types of guilty pleas under Rule
11. That analytical failure creates a significant 
precedential flaw as well going forward, for now the 
D.C. Circuit decision can be cited as authority for 
limiting judicial power with respect to all three types 
of pleas covered by the rule as well, a result certainly 
not intended by the framers of the rule. This Court’s 
review is necessary to remedy these fundamental 
errors and their resulting damage to the uniform 
and proper administration of our vital federal plea 
bargaining scheme.

II. Further Definition Of The Fiduciary 
Duty Component Under The Honest 
Services Fraud Statute Arising From The 
Second Question Presented Is Critically 
Important To Effecting The 
Constitutional Narrowing Of The Statute 
Mandated By Skilling

As the district court acknowledged, post- 
Skilling a “bribery and kickback scheme sunder 
Section 1346 must involve a breach of fiduciary duty, 
as this duty establishes the right to one’s honest 
services out of which the victim of Section 1346 is 
defrauded.” App. C at 14a (emphasis added). The 
nature of this “duty” is where Scanlon discerned the

379 n.4 (6th Cir. 2004)(Type C plea agreement case). If ever 
there were such a “rare case”, it is this one.
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disconnect between the theory underlying his honest 
services fraud prosecution and those prosecutions 
approved as constitutional in Skilling. As Scanlon 
argued below: 1) both Section 1346, and Skilling’s 
construction to save it, are irrevocably tied to the 
pre-McNally case law; 2) the pre-McNally case law 
contains only reported cases based on an invariable 
fiduciary duty fixed by relationship; 3) the “honest 
services” portion of Scanlon’s plea has no parallel in 
the pre-McNally case law; and 4) the “honest 
services” portion of Scanlon’s plea is not within the 
“bribe-and-kickback core of the pre-McNally case 
law.” In sum, to the best of counsel’s research 
abilities, there is no pre-McNally honest services 
fraud case involving a fiduciary duty theory like this 
one. Government counsel certainly never pointed 
out any such pre-McNally precedent to the district 
court, and the district court cited none in its 
memorandum opinion denying Scanlon’s motion. 
The pr e-McNally bribe-and-kickback cases all 
involve fixed and definite fiduciary duties 
established at the outset of the parties’ relationship 
by virtue of the nature of that relationship. The 
fiduciary duty theory in Scanlon’s case involved no 
such element.

If, as the Skilling Court recognized, Congress’ 
passage of the honest services fraud statute after 
McNally was meant to “recriminalize[e]” the types of 
conduct prosecuted under the statute pre-McNally, 
then how can it possibly be a violation of that statute 
to be involved -  like Scanlon - in a fiduciary duty 
fact pattern without parallel in that pr e-McNally 
case law? And if it can, how would anyone know it?
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The district court reasoned its way to 
approving the Government’s post-Skilling 
prosecution theory by finding that “[s]imply because 
defendant has found a common set of traits among 
the pr e-McNally cases does not mean that this is the 
only way to conceptualize this body of case law.” 
App. C at 15a. But wasn’t the Skilling Court’s 
indication that permissible bribe and kickback 
prosecutions under the statute would “draw content” 
from the pre-McNally case law a directive to search 
for just such “a common set of traits”? And doesn’t 
the Skilling Court’s limitation of the statute to its 
historical pre-McNally reach in bribe and kickback 
cases counsel against “conceptualiz[ing]” this body of 
case law anew? The post-Skilling world hardly 
seems to be the place for a new fiduciary duty theory 
unprecedented in pre-McNally history to be used as 
a basis for a kickback prosecution under an honest 
services fraud statute which was “meant to reinstate 
the body of pre-McNally honest services law.”12

12 The district court, led by the Government’s argument, placed 
priority in its analysis on the existence of a kickback scheme. 
But a proper analysis cannot myopically focus on just this one 
element; the critical element of fiduciary duty must be 
considered as well. Focusing on the kickback element to the 
exclusion of the fiduciary duty element conflates the nature of 
the underlying right to honest services with the means used to 
cause the deprivation of that right. They are different elements 
of the offense, but they both have to be present for a violation. 
Thus, in language applicable to this case, a kickback without 
violating a fiduciary duty right to honest services can no more 
be a violation of Section 1346 than violating such a fiduciary 
duty without a kickback can be. Accordingly, in considering 
the pr e-McNally case law constraints imposed upon Section 
1346 by the Skilling Court, both of these elements have to be 
considered.
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Allowing such a prosecution unprecedented in 
the pre-McNally case law to proceed completely 
unhinges Skilling from its constitutional moorings, 
leading inexorably back to “the most fundamental 
indeterminacy” identified by concurring Justices 
Scalia, Thomas and Kennedy in Skilling -  “the 
character of the ‘fiduciary capacity’ to which the 
bribery and kickback restriction applies.” Skilling, 
130 S. Ct. at 2938-2939. This case red-flags that 
“fundamental indeterminacy” for determination. 
The proper scope of a criminal statute should not be 
a game of “whack-a-mole,” as here, where when one 
theory is knocked down another one immediately 
pops up to take its place. If fiduciary duty can be 
“trust and confidence” or “reliance” or “de facto 
control” or “dominance” or “agency” status, as the 
Government and its “authorities” below suggest, 
then what can’t it be?

Post-Skilling, there continue to be splits in the 
circuits and ambiguities in demarking the 
constitutional boundaries of the honest services 
fraud statute. Compare United States v. Bruno, 
2011 WL 5555611 (2d Cir. 2011) with United States 
v. Spellissy, 2011 WL 3629910 (11th Cir. 2011). It 
would be far better for the administration of justice 
to nip those circuit splits and ambiguities in the bud 
in the relatively recent wake of Skilling than not. 
This case presents the Court with an appropriate 
opportunity to do so.

CONCLUSION

Scanlon is subject to a criminal conviction 
based in part on a charge which appears to be 
unconstitutional. He is also subject to a multimillion
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dollar restitution order based upon that same 
unconstitutional charge. The D.C. Circuit found that 
the district court had no power to remedy this state 
of affairs by modifying or amending the Type B plea 
agreement which secured Scanlon’s guilt to this 
charge in order to remove its unconstitutional 
aspects. That is just wrong.

In fact, the district court should more properly 
be viewed as having no power to decline to remedy 
such a situation. As this Court has previously held, 
there is “no room for doubt” that a conviction arising 
from acts that the law no longer makes criminal 
“inherently results in a complete miscarriage of 
justice.” Davis v. United States, 417 U.S. 333, 346 
(1974). And if a trial court can be directed “to order 
the State to reoffer [a prior ] plea agreement” in 
order to remedy a constitutional violation, Lafler v. 
Cooper, No. 10-209, slip op. at 12 (March 21, 2012), 
then why should trial courts lack the lesser power to 
simply modify a plea agreement to make its 
sentencing components constitutional.13 Certainly 
all parties in the criminal justice system have an 
interest in that goal.

The decision below makes no sense. Through 
its decision finding a lack of judicial power to lower 
the estimated restitution amount in Scanlon’s Type 
B plea agreement to make it constitutional, the D.C. 
Circuit concomitantly affirmed the district court’s

13 Cf. United States u. Gibson, 356 F.3d 761 (7th Cir. 
2004)(pursuant to a guilty plea, “[t]o allow an illegal sentence 
to stand would impugn the fairness, integrity, and public 
reputation of the judicial proceedings that have taken place in 
this case”).
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actual sentence which ordered Scanlon to pay a 
higher restitution amount than that estimated in the 
plea agreement because of that court’s final 
sentencing determinations. Justice demands better 
than this anomaly of judicial power; fundamental 
fairness requires a level playing field, a two-way 
street. We humbly ask this Court to correct the 
“complete miscarriage of justice” in this case.

The petition for a writ of certiorari should be 
granted.

Respectfully submitted,

Stephen L. Braga 
Counsel of Record 

Ropes & Gray LLP 
700 12th Street, NW,
Suite 900 

Washington, DC 20005 
(202) 508-4655
Stephen.Braga@ropesgray.com 

Counsel for Petitioner

April 19,2012
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APPENDIX A

United States Court Of Appeals 
For The District Of Columbia Circuit

No. 11-3024

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
APPELLEE
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for the District of Columbia 
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Demetra Lambros, Attorney, U.S. Department 
of Justice, argued the cause for appellee. With her on 
the brief was Nathaniel B. Edmonds, Trial Attorney. 
Roy W. McLeese III, Assistant U.S. Attorney, entered 
an appearance.

Before: SENTELLE, Chief Judge, TATEL, 
Circuit Judge, and EDWARDS, Senior Circuit 
Judge.

Opinion for the Court filed by Chief Judge 
SENTELLE.

SENTELLE, Chief Judge: Michael Scanlon 
appeals the denial by the district court of his “motion 
to amend or modify his plea agreement.” Because 
courts are not authorized to order modification or 
amendment of plea agreements, we affirm the denial 
of his motion.

Background

In 2005, the appellant, Michael P.S. Scanlon, 
pled guilty to a one-count information charging a 
conspiracy with three objects: bribery of federal 
officials; money-or-property mail and wire fraud; and 
honest services mail and wire fraud in violation of, 
inter alia, 18 U.S.C. § 1346. The information 
Scanlon pled guilty to set forth the following 
scenario. A Washington lobbyist whose clients 
included Native American Indian tribes interested in 
operating gambling casinos persuaded some of those 
clients to hire a firm established by Scanlon in 
Washington, D.C., purportedly to provide grass roots 
work, public relations services, and election
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campaign support. Scanlon would charge these 
clients prices that incorporated huge profit margins 
and then kick-back to the lobbyist fifty percent of the 
firm’s net profits. Certain funds requested by 
Scanlon and the lobbyist for specific client purposes 
were in fact being used for their own personal 
benefit. Additionally, Scanlon and the lobbyist 
would provide things of value to federal public 
officials in exchange for the officials’ influence to 
benefit their clients.

Scanlon’s plea was the result of a plea 
agreement between Scanlon and the government and 
accepted by the district court, all pursuant to Rule
11 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. The 
plea agreement specifically stated that Scanlon was 
pleading guilty to the crimes charged in the 
information, including honest services mail and wire 
fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1346. The plea 
agreement set forth Scanlon’s offense level under the 
United States Sentencing Guidelines; the 
government agreed, however, to seek a lower 
sentence if Scanlon accepted responsibility for his 
actions and/or cooperated with the government in its 
investigation. The plea agreement also specified 
that restitution to the victims of Scanlon’s crimes 
was mandatory, and that the estimated loss was 
approximately 20 million dollars.

Scanlon was not then sentenced but instead, 
for the next five years, cooperated with the 
government in its investigation of corruption on 
Capitol Hill. In 2010, still before sentencing, 
Scanlon filed a motion in the district court “to modify 
or amend his plea agreement” in light of the holding 
in Skilling v. United States, 130 S. Ct. 2896 (2010),
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which concerned honest services fraud in violation of 
18 U.S.C. § 1346. Scanlon argued that under the 
holding in Skilling the honest services fraud in 
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1346 to which he pled guilty 
could no longer be maintained against him. In its 
opinion disposing of Scanlon’s motion, the district 
court noted that if Scanlon’s Skilling argument were 
correct, material consequences for Scanlon’s 
sentencing and restitution would result. The district 
court concluded, however, that Scanlon’s 
interpretation of Skilling was erroneous and denied 
the motion. Scanlon was subsequently sentenced to 
20 months imprisonment and ordered to pay 
approximately 20 million dollars in restitution. 
Scanlon now appeals the district court’s denial of his 
motion to modify or amend his plea agreement.

Discussion

On appeal Scanlon renews the Skilling 
argument he made below, contending that the final 
judgment of conviction and restitution against him 
should be reversed and remanded for 
redetermination without consideration of the § 1346 
honest services fraud portion of his plea. The 
government responds by arguing, for the first time 
on appeal, that neither we nor the district court are 
authorized to modify or amend plea agreements. We 
agree. Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Criminal 
Procedure strictly limits the role of the court in plea 
agreements. First, the court is prohibited from 
participating in plea agreement discussions. Fed. R. 
Crim. P. 11(c)(1). Furthermore, after the plea 
agreement has been finalized between the 
government and the defendant, the court, when 
considering a plea agreement like the one at issue



here, is limited to accepting the plea, rejecting it, or 
deferring a decision. Fed. R. Crim. P. 11(c)(3)(A). 
Modification of the agreement by the court is not an 
option. As we have noted previously, “[t]he district 
court may accept or reject [the] plea, but it may not 
modify it.” United States v. Goodall, 236 F.3d 700, 
703 (D.C. Cir. 2001) (citation, quotations omitted). 
Most importantly for our purposes here, changing of 
the agreement by the court after acceptance of the 
plea is also not allowed. As the Fifth Circuit has 
held, “once the court has accepted the [plea] 
agreement, it may not subsequently reject or modify 
it.” McClure v. Ashcroft, 335 F.3 404, 413 (5th Cir. 
2003). Otherwise put, “[t]here is no provision in the 
[Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure] allowing a 
court to reject or modify an agreement once 
accepted.” United States v. Ritsema, 89 F.3d 392, 
399 (7th Cir. 1996). We agree. The district court 
accepted Scanlon’s plea agreement, which included 
pleading guilty to honest services fraud in violation 
of 18 U.S.C. § 1346. The district court is not 
authorized to modify or amend Scanlon’s plea 
agreement.

Scanlon argues otherwise, but he is unable to 
cite any case in which a plea agreement was 
amended or modified by the court at the unilateral 
request of one of the parties. He nevertheless claims 
that the district court has the power to modify or 
amend his plea agreement because striking the 
portion of his plea to honest services fraud would 
affect only restitution, and under the plea agreement 
it is within the district court judge’s determination 
to set the amount of restitution. He further argues 
that since plea agreements are analogous to 
contracts, if the district court had accepted his

5a
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Skilling argument then the government would have 
the option to opt out of the plea agreement because a 
mutual misunderstanding in the making of the plea 
agreement would have occurred. We hold no opinion 
as to Scanlon’s Skilling argument, but even if we 
agreed with Scanlon that the holding in Skilling 
materially affects the honest services charges to 
which he pled guilty, the relief he seeks is not 
available to him. Once again, we agree with the 
Seventh Circuit. “If we rule that some provision of 
the plea agreement is invalid, we must discard the 
entire agreement and require [the defendant] and 
the government to begin their bargaining all over 
again.” United States v. Barnes, 83 F.3d 934, 941 
(7th Cir. 1996); see also United States v. Bernard, 
373 F.3d 339, 345 n.7 (3rd Cir. 2004) (“If the 
provisions of a plea agreement are accepted by a 
court, but later found to be invalid, the proper 
remedy is . . .  to allow the defendant to . . . either 
negotiate a new agreement, or proceed to trial.”); 
United States u. Sandies, 80 F.3d 1145, 1148 (7th 
Cir. 1996) (“Where there is a mutual 
misunderstanding as to the material terms of a 
contract, the appropriate remedy is rescission, not 
unilateral modification.”).

If Scanlon believes that certain terms of his 
plea agreement should have been stricken because of 
Skilling, then one recourse possibly available to him 
was to file a motion to withdraw his plea. Rule 11 
allows a defendant to withdraw a plea which, as in 
Scanlon’s case, has been accepted by the court but 
before sentencing, if “the defendant can show a fair 
and just reason for requesting the withdrawal.” Fed. 
R. Crim. P. 11(d)(2)(B). If Scanlon had filed a motion 
to withdraw on the basis of the holding in Skilling
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and the district court had denied his motion, then he 
could have appealed the denial and the Skilling 
issue might be properly before us. But the issue 
comes before us by his “motion to modify or amend 
his plea agreement.” We can hardly hold that the 
district court erred by not granting relief the 
appellant had not sought. Our role is to affirm or 
reverse the district court’s denial of the motion 
actually made, not one the appellant, possibly for 
strategic reasons, never made. As the district court 
had no authority to grant the relief the appellant 
actually sought, the district court did not err in 
denying it.

Conclusion

The district court’s denial of Scanlon’s motion 
to amend or modify his plea agreement is affirmed.
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APPENDIX B

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CIRCUIT

No. 11-3024 
September Term, 2011

United States of America 
Appellee 

v.
Michael P.S. Scanlon 

Appellant

Appeal from the United States District Court 
For the District of Columbia 

(No. l:05-cr-00411-l)

Before: SENTELLE, Chief Judge, TATEL, Circuit 
Judge, and EDWARDS, Senior Circuit Judge

JUDGMENT

This cause came on to be heard on the record on 
appeal from the United States District Court for the 
District of Columbia and was argued by counsel. On 
consideration thereof, it is

ORDERED, and ADJUDGED that the District 
Court’s denial of Scanlon’s motion to amend or 
modify his plea agreement appealed from in this
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cause is hereby affirmed, in accordance with the 
opinion filed herein this date.

Per Curiam

FOR THE COURT:
Mark J. Langer, Clerk

/s/
Jennifer M. Clark 
Deputy Clerk

Date: January 20, 2012

Opinion for the court filed by Chief Judge Sentelle

Filed on: January 20, 2012 
Decided on: January 20, 2012 

Mandate: March 15, 2012
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APPENDIX C

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, )
)

Plaintiff, )
)

v. ) No. 05-CR-411
) (ESH) 

MICHAEL P.S. SCANLON, )
)

Defendant. )

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

In November 2005, defendant Michael 
Scanlon (“Scanlon” or “defendant”) pled guilty to a 
one-count information charging conspiracy with 
three objects: bribery in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 201; 
property mail and wire fraud in violation of 18 
U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343; and honest-services mail 
and wire fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341, 
1343, and 1346.

Before the Court is defendant’s motion to 
modify or amend his plea agreement based on 
United States v. Skilling, 130 S. Ct. 2896 (2010).
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Specifically, Scanlon argues that the honest-services 
charges to which he plead guilty can no longer be 
constitutionally maintained against his conduct. If 
correct, this conclusion would have material 
consequences for Scanlon’s sentencing offense level 
and restitution. Based on the arguments of counsel 
at a hearing on November 23, and for the reasons set 
forth below, the Court denies his motion.

FACTS

Scanlon pled guilty to conspiring with Jack 
Abramoff to defraud certain of Abramoffs Native 
American Indian Tribe clients (“Tribes”) of their 
right to Abramoff s honest services. (Plea 
Agreement H 3.) The scheme involved Abramoff 
taking advantage of his relationship of trust and 
confidence with his clients in order to convince them 
to hire Scanlon. (Factual Basis U 6.) Scanlon would 
then secretly kick back to Abramoff approximately 
fifty percent of his company’s net profits gained from 
these clients. (Id.) With respect to one of the clients, 
Abramoff misrepresented to the tribe that he would 
perform lobbying work “pro bono,” when in fact he 
received the fifty-percent kickback from Scanlon 
under their arrangement. (Id.)

Under the government’s theory of fiduciary 
duty, tribal clients who had hired Abramoff more 
than once were, by virtue of such repeat hiring, 
relying upon an ongoing relationship of trust and 
loyalty with Abramoff, giving rise to his fiduciary 
duty to provide them with his honest services.1

1 Scanlon’s Information, Plea, and Factual Basis were carefully 
calibrated to deliberately identify only certain fees paid to
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Throughout this scheme, “Scanlon believed that 
[Abramoff] had a duty to act in the best interest of 
his clients in these matters and that [Abramoff]’s 
clients did in fact trust and rely upon [Abramoff].” 
(Id.) He also “knew that [Abramoff] promoted 
himself as having knowledge superior to his clients 
regarding lobbyist and grass roots activity and 
[Abramoff] encouraged his clients to trust his 
judgment in these matters.” (Id.)

ANALYSIS

In United States v. Skilling, the Supreme 
Court addressed a challenge to the constitutionality 
of the honest-services fraud statute, 18 U.S.C. 
§ 1346, on the grounds that the statute was 
impermissibly vague. Declining Skilling’s invitation 
to void the statute in its entirety, the majority 
instead held that the statute could only be 
constitutionally applied to those cases that formed 
the “core” of honest-services fraud prior to the 
Supreme Court’s ruling in McNally v. United States, 
483 U.S. 350 (1987), namely bribery or kickback 
schemes. In doing so, the Court rejected both the 
government’s argument that § 1346 could also 
permissibly proscribe “undisclosed self-dealing” 
cases as well as the opinion of Justice Scalia that the 
statute be struck down in its entirety.

Abramoff in connection with tribal clients who had hired 
Abramoff more than once and only the fees paid in connection 
with those successive hirings (and not the initial ones) as the 
basis for the honest-services fraud charges. (See, e.g., 
Information UK 8-18; Factual Basis U11 6-8; Plea Agreement K
5.)
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The question before the Court is what effect, if 
any, Skilling has on Scanlon’s plea. The government 
contends that defendant’s plea is unaffected by 
Skilling because it sets forth a classic kickback 
scheme. Scanlon, however, argues that Skilling 
reached a narrower holding, approving only “the 
prosecution of certain types of kickback cases,” of 
which he claims his case is not one. (Defendant’s 
Motion [“Def.’s Mot.”] at 2-3.) As explained below, 
Scanlon’s interpretation of Skilling is erroneous.

Scanlon’s primary argument depends on his 
interpretation of scattered passages from the 
majority’s opinion in Skilling. Seizing on this 
language, Scanlon argues that Skilling divided 
kickback cases into two heretofore unknown 
categories: “kickback cases within the ‘core’ of ‘pre- 
McNally case law’” (id. at 10 (emphasis omitted)), 
which according to Scanlon are still encompassed by 
§ 1346, and kickback cases that fall outside this 
“core,” which according to Scanlon were invalidated 
under Skilling.

Scanlon appears to define the scope of so- 
called “non-core” kickback schemes under two 
alternative theories. First, Scanlon seizes on 
language from a single footnote in Skilling to argue 
for the existence of what he terms the “literal core of 
pre-McNally case law,” which involved fraud relating 
only to public official-public, employee-employer, and 
union official-union member relationships. (Id. at 3.) 
“Beyond these three examples,” Scanlon argues, “the 
Skilling Court provided no further elucidation of this 
‘core’ concept.” (Id.)
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Scanlon reads too much into this footnote. 
Skilling made clear (and the parties agree) that 
bribery and kickback schemes under § 1346 must 
involve a breach of fiduciary duty, as this duty 
establishes the right to one’s honest services out of 
which the victim of § 1346 is defrauded. See, e.g., 
Skilling, 130 S. Ct. at 2930 (“The ‘vast majority’ of 
the honest-services cases involved offenders who, in 
violation of a fiduciary duty, participated in bribery 
or kickback schemes.” (emphasis added)). In 
addressing Justice Scalia’s concern that the Courts 
of Appeals pr e-McNally did not uniformly agree as to 
the source and scope of fiduciary duties, the Skilling 
majority argued that this fact would have little 
impact on bribery and kickback cases. Id. at 2390 
n.41. The Skilling majority cited several pre- 
McNally bribery and kickback cases involving public 
official-public, employee-employer, and union 
official-union member relationships as examples in 
support of its argument that the existence of a 
fiduciary relationship was “usually beyond dispute” 
in such cases. Id. This is altogether different, 
however, from stating that the application of § 1346 
is limited to only those cases where the scope and 
source of the fiduciary duty was beyond dispute.

Moreover, even if, as Scanlon claims, the 
majority of pre-McNally bribery or kickbacks cases 
involved one of these three relationships, this does 
not mean that these examples represent an 
exhaustive list of the fiduciary relationships that can 
support an honest-services fraud prosecution, to the 
exclusion of other fiduciary relationships such as 
attorney-client, doctor-patient, or stockbroker- 
customer. Indeed, the Second Circuit acknowledged 
this point explicitly in United States v. Rybicki, 354
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F.3d 124 (2d Cir. 2003), a decision cited approvingly 
by the Skilling Court. See 130 S. Ct. at 2929. After 
taking stock of the pre-McNally case law, the Rybicki 
court noted that “[a]lthough the bulk of the [private- 
sector] pre-McNally honest-services cases involved 
employees, we see no reason the principle they 
establish would not apply to other persons who 
assume a legal duty of loyalty comparable to that 
owed by an officer or employee to a private entity.” 
354 F.3d at 142 n.17. See also United States v. 
Drury, 687 F.2d 63 (5th Cir. 1982) (affirming pre- 
McNally honest-services fraud conviction of attorney 
who engaged in kickback scheme with physician).

Simply because defendant has found a set of 
common traits among the pr e-McNally cases does 
not mean that this is the only way to conceptualize 
this body of case law, and at no point did Skilling 
hold that these three fiduciary relationships marked 
the outer boundaries of § 1346. See, e.g., United 
States v. Lupton, 620 F.3d 790 (7th Cir. 2010) 
(affirming post-Skilling conviction under § 1346 of 
rea-estate broker who defrauded client of right of 
honest services).

Perhaps cognizant of this fact, defendant 
proposes an alternative, even more novel definition 
of so-called “core” kickback cases, which he terms the 
“analytical core.” (Def.’s Mot. at 6.) Extrapolating 
from the three examples that he claims form the 
“literal core” of kickback cases, Scanlon argues that 
a kickback scheme falls outside the “analytic core” if 
an individual’s duty to provide another with his 
honest services “depended upon the circumstances,” 
or was “not constant, but variable.” (Id.) Under this 
theory, honest-services fraud can be charged under
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§ 1346 only where the fiduciary duties in question 
were “fixed and constant.” (Id.) Unfortunately for 
Scanlon, at no point does Skilling draw such a 
distinction between “fixed and constant” fiduciary 
duties and those that are “variable” or “depend upon 
the circumstances,” let alone hold that only the 
former fall within the ambit of § 1346.

But Scanlon misinterprets Skilling at an even 
more fundamental level. Scanlon’s argument hinges 
on his interpretation of a single line from the 
majority’s opinion in Skilling: “To preserve the 
statute without transgressing constitutional 
limitations, we now hold that § 1346 criminalizes 
only the bribe-and-kickback core of the pre-McNally 
case law.” Skilling, 130 S. Ct. at 2931. Scanlon’s 
interpretation of this sentence is flawed, and this 
flaw dooms his entire analysis.

Scanlon erroneously interprets the phrase 
“only the bribe-and-kickback core of the pre-McNally 
case law” as if it instead reads: “only bribe-and- 
kickback cases within the core of pre-McNally case 
law.” Indeed, his motion rewords the language from 
Skilling in precisely this manner. (See Def.’s Mot. at
10.) If Skilling had in fact used such language 
throughout its opinion, then perhaps Scanlon’s 
argument would be meritorious, as it would suggest 
that some kickback cases fall “within the core of pre- 
McNally case law” whereas others do not.

The Skilling majority, however, did not use 
this wording. It used the term “core” not, as Scanlon 
would have it, to distinguish “core bribe-and- 
kickback” cases from “non-core bribe-and-kickback 
cases,” but rather to distinguish bribery and
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kickback cases (which themselves constitute the 
“core” of pre-McNally case law) from cases involving 
mere undisclosed self-dealing.2 See, e.g., Skilling, 
130 S. Ct. at 2905 (“In the main, the pre-McNally 
cases involved fraudulent schemes to deprive 
another of honest services through bribes or 
kickbacks supplied by a third party who had not 
been deceived.”); id. at 2929 (“While the honest- 
services cases preceding McNally dominantly and 
consistently applied the fraud statute to bribery and 
kickback schemes — schemes that were the basis of 
most honest-services prosecution — there was 
considerable disarray over the statute’s application 
to conduct outside that core category.” (emphasis 
added)); id. at 2930 (“Although some applications of 
the pre-McNally honest-services doctrine occasioned 
disagreement among the Court of Appeals, these 
cases do not cloud the doctrine’s solid core: The ‘vast 
majority’ of the honest-services cases involved 
offenders who, in violation of a fiduciary duty, 
participated in bribery or kickback schemes.”); id. at 
2931 n.44 (“Given that the Courts of Appeals 
uniformly recognized bribery and kickback schemes 
as honest-services fraud before McNally, and that 
these schemes composed the lion’s share of honest- 
services cases, limiting § 1346 to these heartland 
applications is surely ‘fairly possible.’” (citations 
omitted) (emphasis added)); id at 2931 (“[T]here is 
no doubt that Congress intended § 1346 to reach at 
least bribes and kickbacks.” (emphasis in original)).

2 As defendant conceded at oral argument, this conclusion is 
fatal to his argument. (See 11/23/10 Tr. (“MR. BRAGA: If you 
analyze it that way, we lose, I must concede we lose if that’s the 
analysis.”).)



18a

Even if the precise passage quoted by Scanlon might, 
in a vacuum, support more than one interpretation, 
the decision as a whole simply does not support the 
argument that Skilling intended for § 1346 to reach 
some kickback schemes but not others.

Finally, Scanlon argues that the facts of this 
case implicate constitutional questions similar to 
those at issue in Skilling. Because the fiduciary 
duties that Abramoff breached were “ill-defined,” 
“elastic,” and “innovative” rather than “fixed,” 
Scanlon argues that constitutional “fair notice” 
concerns are implicated. (See Def.’s Mot. at 6-8). In 
this regard, Scanlon’s arguments mirror those of 
Justice Scalia, who repeatedly expressed similar 
concerns regarding the “indeterminate” source and 
scope of the fiduciary obligation requirement and 
argued that the majority’s pruning of the § 1346 to 
encompass only bribery and kickback schemes did 
not solve this indeterminacy. See Skilling, 130 S. Ct. 
at 2937 n .l (Scalia, J., dissenting) (arguing that 
while the Courts of Appeals pr e-McNally “may have 
consistently found unlawful the acceptance of a bribe 
or kickback by one or another sort of fiduciary . . . 
they have not consistently described (as the statute 
does not) any test for who is a fiduciary”). Justice 
Scalia’s position, however, did not carry the day. 
While the Court in Skilling could have chosen to 
limit the application of § 1346 to those bribery and 
kickback cases where the source and scope of the 
fiduciary duty was “fixed and definite,” it did not do 
so, “perceiv[ing] no significant risk” that vagueness 
concerns would “stretchQ [the honest-services 
statute] out of shape.” Skilling, 130 S. Ct. at 2933.
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In any event, even if this Court were to 
impose limitations on the scope of § 1346 beyond 
those described in Skilling, such a rule would [have] 
little effect in this case, as it is abundantly clear, as 
Scanlon admitted as part of his plea, that Abramoff 
had a fiduciary duty to provide his clients with his 
honest services. The existence of a fiduciary duty 
depends on the relationship between the parties, and 
requires that the parties have “extended their 
relationship beyond the limits of . . . contractual 
obligations to a relationship founded upon trust and 
confidence.” Paul u. Judicial Watch, Inc., 543 F. 
Supp. 2d 1, 6 (D.D.C. 2008) (citation omitted); 
Church of Scientology Int’l v. Eli Lilly & Co., 848 F. 
Supp. 1018, 1028 (D.D.C. 1994) (“The Restatement 
(Second) of Torts notes that a fiduciary relation 
exists when one party ‘is under a duty to act for or 
give advice for the benefit of another upon matters 
within the scope of the relation.”’ (citation omitted)).

Here, it is undisputed both that Abramoff had 
just such a duty to his clients and that Scanlon was 
aware of this fact:

Scanlon knew that [Abramoff] 
promoted himself as having 
knowledge superior to his clients 
regarding lobbyist and grass roots 
activity and [Abramoff] encouraged his 
clients to trust his judgement in these 
matters. Scanlon believed that 
[Abramoff] had a duty to act in the 
best interest of his clients in these 
matters. Scanlon believed that 
[Abramoff]’s clients did in fact trust 
and rely upon [Abramoff].
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(Factual Basis  ̂ 6.)

Looking beyond this admission, the Court 
finds support for the existence of a fiduciary 
relationship between Abramoff and his clients in 
both the facts and the law. The District of Columbia 
Rules of Professional Conduct in effect at the time 
prohibited representation if the “lawyer’s 
professional judgment on behalf of the client will be 
or reasonably may be adversely affected by the 
lawyer’s responsibilities to or interests in a third 
party or the lawyer’s own financial, business, 
property, or personal interests.” D.C. Rules of Profl 
Conduct R. 1.7(b)(4). Although Abramoff was not 
himself a licensed attorney, he informed his clients 
that he worked for the law firm Greenberg Traurig 
LLP, and his written agreements with the Tribes 
appeared on firm stationary. In one of these letter 
agreements, Abramoff explicitly stated that the D.C. 
Rules of Professional Conduct would apply to the 
representation of the Tribes, and at no point did 
Abramoff disclaim applicability of the Rules. (Opp. 
Exs. A-C.) In addition, the D.C. Circuit has held 
that an attorney in the District of Columbia who 
accepted funds under a lobbying contract had 
fiduciary duties as an agent of his client. Rwanda u. 
Johnson, 409 F.3d 368, 370-73 (D.C.Cir. 2005). 
Although the lobbyist discussed in Rwanda was an 
attorney, the Court there located his fiduciary duty 
to his client not in the attorney-client relationship, 
but rather under the more general notion that 
agents owe a fiduciary duty to deal in their 
principle’s interest and put the principle’s interest 
above their own. Id. at 372.
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In sum, the Court finds no merit in the 
argument that Abramoffs fiduciary duty to his 
clients was so far removed from the paradigmatic 
examples of fiduciary duties that somehow 
defendant did not have “fair notice” that his conduct 
was criminal. Indeed, Scanlon’s kickback scheme 
relied upon the trust and confidence placed in 
Abramoff by his clients, as it allowed Abramoff to 
use his role as “professional advisor” to discourage 
his clients “from seeking competitive pricing and 
proposals from grass roots and public relations 
vendors other than [Scanlon’s company.]” (Factual 
Basis K 7.) Having depended upon a relationship of 
trust and confidence in order to defraud Abramoff s 
clients, Scanlon cannot now claim surprise when 
that relationship forms the basis of the government’s 
charges against him. See Skilling, 130 S. Ct. at 2933 
(“As to fair notice, . . .  it has always been as plain as 
a pikestaff that bribes and kickbacks constitute 
honest-services fraud, and the statute’s mens rea 
requirement further blunts any notice concern.” 
(internal citations and quotation marks omitted)). 
“A criminal defendant who participated in a bribery 
or kickback scheme, in short, cannot tenably 
complain about prosecution under § 1346 on 
vagueness grounds.” Id. at 2934.

CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, defendant’s motion 

to modify or amend his plea agreement [Dkt. #47] is 
DENIED.
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SO ORDERED.

_____________Is/________________
ELLEN SEGAL HUVELLE 
United States District Judge

Date: November 30, 2010
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THE CLERK: Case number 11-3204, United 
States of America v. Michael P.S. Scanlon, 
Appellant. Mr. Braga for the Appellant; Ms. 
Lambros for the Appellee.

ORAL ARGUMENT OF STEPHEN L. BRAGA, ESQ. 
ON BEHALF OF THE APPELLANT

MR. BRAGA: Good morning, Your Honors. 
I’ve reserved two minutes of my time for rebuttal. 
I’m Stephen Braga on behalf of Appellant Michael 
Scanlon.

In United States v. Skilling the Supreme 
Court narrowed the reach of the Honest Services 
Fraud statute to criminalize only the bribe-and- 
kickback core of the pr e-McNally case law.

JUDGE SENTELLE: The troubling thing, or 
a troubling thing is what you want us to do about it. 
You seem to be wanting us to remake a plea bargain 
for you. Can the Court do that?

MR. BRAGA: Well, Your Honor, no, the Court 
can’t remake a plea bargain, but that’s not what 
we’re asking the Court to do.

JUDGE SENTELLE: What are you asking 
the Court to do?

MR. BRAGA: We’re asking the Court to 
remand this matter to the District Court.

P R O C E E D I N G S
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JUDGE SENTELLE: Let me make clear, 
what are you asking the District Court to do?

MR. BRAGA: The District Court will have to 
consider if this Court finds that the Honest Services 
portion of Scanlon’s plea needs to be eliminated 
because it’s unconstitutional the District Court 
would then give the Government a chance to 
withdraw from the plea if it desired to do so, or to 
propose a - -

JUDGE SENTELLE: Is that what you asked 
for below? Did you ask for a withdrawal of the plea 
bargain, or did you ask for a reformation of it?

MR. BRAGA: We didn’t ask for a withdrawal, 
Your Honor, we filed a motion to amend or modify 
the plea agreement.

JUDGE SENTELLE: Right. How do you 
distinguish between that and what I asked you to 
begin with when I said you were asking the Courts 
to change your plea bargain?

MR. BRAGA: Because, Your Honor, it’s step 
one of the process. Everybody understood that 
Skilling was coming down the track, and the 
question was what impact was it going to have on 
the case?

JUDGE SENTELLE: You made a plea 
bargain, now the Government has a statement on 
page 16 of its brief, Scanlon asks too much, it is not 
for him to unilaterally rewrite the agreement, nor 
may he ask that the District Court do so. If Scanlon 
believes his plea is defective under Skilling he
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should have moved to withdraw it, which if granted 
would either have taken him back to the bargaining 
table, why isn’t that correct?

MR. BRAGA: It’s one approach that could 
have been taken, Your Honor.

JUDGE SENTELLE: Right.

MR. BRAGA: Absolutely. We could have 
moved to withdraw it.

JUDGE SENTELLE: No. Why isn’t that the 
one approach that could have been taken? Do you 
have any case where a Court has ever rewritten a 
plea bargain the way you want one rewritten here?

MR. BRAGA: Your Honor, again, the request 
for the Court was not to rewrite the plea bargain. 
This argument wasn’t raised - -

JUDGE SENTELLE: What was your request, 
again, then?

MR. BRAGA: The request was to amend or 
modify.

JUDGE SENTELLE: Do you have any case 
where a Court has remanded or modified on 
unilateral request a plea bargain?

MR. BRAGA: I don’t, Your Honor. I have a 
case, United States v. Ginder (phonetic sp.) where 
Judge Edwards was on the panel where the Court 
rejected an initial plea bargain, and the parties went
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back to renegotiate and came up with a second plea 
bargain.

JUDGE SENTELLE: There’s no question that 
that can be done.

MR. BRAGA: Right.

JUDGE SENTELLE: But that wasn’t what 
you asked. You asked the Court to alter or modify, 
correct?

MR. BRAGA: To amend or modify, correct, 
Your Honor.

JUDGE SENTELLE: Amend or modify it.

MR. BRAGA: Right.

JUDGE SENTELLE: I don’t know what the 
distinction is you’re finding between that and 
rewriting. We’re quibbling over semantics at that 
point. Do you have a case where a Court has done 
that?

MR. BRAGA: I don’t.

JUDGE SENTELLE: Where does the Court 
get the power to do that?

MR. BRAGA: Well, the Court has the power, 
of course, to look at whether a portion of the plea is 
unconstitutional in light of Skilling - -
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JUDGE SENTELLE: And if so, then you 
bring it the Courts on proper motion the Court could 
then strike the plea - -

MR. BRAGA: Right.

JUDGE SENTELLE: - - and you could start 
over and re-bargain or go to trial.

MR. BRAGA: Right.

JUDGE SENTELLE: But that wasn’t what 
you asked the Court to do. You told me three times 
now you asked the Court to amend or modify.

MR. BRAGA: Correct.

JUDGE SENTELLE: And the Government I 
think rightly says the Courts can’t do that.

MR. BRAGA: Well, and the interesting thing, 
Your Honor, Chief Judge Sentelle, is that the 
Government never made that argument below, and 
the reason they didn’t make it -

JUDGE SENTELLE: I mean, if that goes to 
the power of the Court to ask, that speaks of a 
jurisdictional issue, does it not, so that it could be 
raised for the first time on appeal?

MR. BRAGA: Right.

JUDGE SENTELLE: Right. So, it’s properly 
before us, is it not?
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MR. BRAGA: Well, the Court could have said 
below if it found Skilling applicable, which it didn’t 
so we never got to the second stage of the process, 
what are we going to do? What are we going to do 
about this now? We’re going to have to withdraw the 
plea. We’ve laid out in our briefs the mutual 
mistake analysis, the contract analogy, this - - if 
we’re right about Skilling, this plea agreement was 
based on a mutual mistake of that.

JUDGE TATEL: Right. And you could have 
easily brought that issue here by moving to 
withdraw the plea, make your argument about 
Skilling, had you lost then you would have this issue 
properly before us, but that’s not what you did.

MR. BRAGA: Correct.

JUDGE TATEL: That’s what Chief Judge 
Sentelle is pointing out. I mean, it’s not as if you 
couldn’t have made the argument, you chose, you 
made the decision not to move to withdraw the plea, 
and that’s the - - so that’s the context in which the 
case comes before us, that’s what limits what we can 
do.

MR. BRAGA: Correct, Your Honor, there was 
a choice made.

JUDGE TATEL: Yes.

JUDGE SENTELLE: So, the Court - -

JUDGE TATEL: So-
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JUDGE SENTELLE: - - rightly didn’t do 
something it couldn’t do.

JUDGE TATEL: Right.

JUDGE SENTELLE: All we can do is affirm, 
isn’t it?

JUDGE TATEL: Right.

MR. BRAGA: Well, the Court didn’t rule on 
that ground, of course, the Court went off on a 
different ground. And the Court recognized - -

JUDGE SENTELLE: But we can affirm a 
District Court on different grounds than the District 
Court - -

MR. BRAGA: Sure you can.

JUDGE SENTELLE: - - relied upon.

MR. BRAGA: Sure you can.

JUDGE SENTELLE: It’s not like an 
administrative law case.

MR. BRAGA: Yes. The District Court 
recognized in its memorandum opinion ruling 
against Mr. Scanlon on the Skilling issue that if we 
were right on Skilling it would have an impact on 
sentence and restitution. Okay. Sentencing is gone 
now, we’re not before this Court asking for any relief 
on sentencing, there’s an appeal waiver, once the 
sentence was within the statutory maximum and the 
appeal came up there’s no question of his



33a

imprisonment. The only issue left before this Court 
is the restitution order - -

JUDGE SENTELLE: Well, that’s part of 
sentencing.

MR. BRAGA: It is.

JUDGE SENTELLE: Yes. So, sentencing is 
not gone now.

MR. BRAGA: But - -

JUDGE SENTELLE: But what is before us as 
Judge Tatel suggests is a pleading in which you 
sought one form of relief, the Court did not grant 
that form of relief, if the Court couldn’t grant that 
form of relief then all that’s left for us to do is affirm, 
is it not?

MR. BRAGA: Well, the way Your Honor has 
analyzed it is one way to look at it. Another way to 
look at it is the plea agreement says restitution is 
solely up to the discretion of the Court. The Court 
has to determine at the time of sentencing who are 
the victims of the offenses for which there’s a plea, 
and then determine who gets mandatory restitution. 
So, this was not a [c] plea where the restitution 
amount was agreed to as in United States u. Goodall, 
this is a plea where it was left up to the discretion of 
the Judge, and another way to look at the motion 
that was made here was for her to impact the 
restitution amount in her final analysis by saying 
Skilling Honest Services Fraud restitution, the 
number needs to change because it’s 
unconstitutional on these facts. This was not a [c]
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plea, this was within the Judge’s discretion to adjust 
the restitution amount.

JUDGE TATEL: See, but the Government’s 
argument is the way you’ve decided to do that by not 
moving to withdraw the plea is that you essentially 
want the benefit of the bargain you got on the 
sentence, and yet not be bound by what you agreed 
to do with respect to restitution. You know, the say 
you want the benefit without the price.

MR. BRAGA: That’s what the Government 
says - -

JUDGE TATEL: Yes.

MR. BRAGA: - - Judge Tatel, but it never 
would have happened that way because the 
Government would have had an automatic veto right 
over whatever the Judge decided if she accepted 
Skilling, the Government could have said well, then 
we withdraw because you’ve changed our deal. The 
Government never raised that argument - -

JUDGE SENTELLE: Now, that makes a nice 
story - -

JUDGE TATEL: Yes.

JUDGE SENTELLE: - - but that’s not what 
happened.

JUDGE TATEL: Right.

JUDGE SENTELLE: I mean, if you had come 
in and asked to withdraw then the Court could pass
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on the withdrawal, and the Government would be in 
a better position to say we withdrew, but you didn’t 
do that, you asked the Court to amend or modify the 
agreement, and that does not really put it before the 
Government to have to say then we withdraw, if a 
Court can’t do that, and I don’t yet hear you telling 
me how a Court gets the power to do that, what’s the 
Government supposed to do about it? Ask him to 
offer a response to something the Court hasn’t done?

MR. BRAGA: No, Your Honor. Your Honor, 
it’s the mutual mistake analysis in our briefs. If the 
Court found that the plea agreement [was] founded 
on a mutual mistake the Government would have 
the option to opt out. If the Court looks at it as a[n] 
adjustment to the restitution - -

JUDGE SENTELLE: You didn’t plead it that
way.

MR. BRAGA: -  discretion - -

JUDGE SENTELLE: You moved for it to be 
modified or amended.

MR. BRAGA: I did.

JUDGE SENTELLE: Yes. You didn’t say 
anything about the Court should give the parties the 
option of opting out. Courts don’t generally modify 
or amend any sort of agreement for the parties, even 
in the case of mutual mistake. Maybe especially in 
the case of mutual mistake. This is an interesting 
world, but it’s not the world we’ve been living in all 
these years. You can’t tell me a single case where a 
Court’s done this.
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MR. BRAGA: I can’t, Your Honor. I can’t.

JUDGE SENTELLE: Okay. And you can’t 
give me any source of power for the Court to do that.

MR. BRAGA: I just gave you an alternative 
source of power, Your Honor, the power to adjust the 
restitution amount in the plea, which is all that’s left 
here.

JUDGE SENTELLE: But that was all part of 
a bargaining plea. So, as Judge Tatel says, you’re 
wanting to maintain the parts of the plea that are 
beneficial to you, but strike those that aren’t.

MR. BRAGA: No, I disagree with that, Judge 
Sentelle. The bargain plea was for restitution as 
required by the statute. If we’re right on Skilling 
that restitution is not required by the statute, it 
wasn’t a [c] plea, that discretion was left up to the 
Judge for restitution amount, that’s the 
determination she had the power to make.

JUDGE TATEL: Well, if the Government was 
back at the bargaining table it might take the 
position that, you know, it wanted a longer sentence 
since it - -

JUDGE SENTELLE: Yes.

JUDGE TATEL: - - had got less restitution. I 
mean - -

JUDGE SENTELLE: Yes.



MR. BRAGA: Absolutely.

JUDGE TATEL: That’s something - -

JUDGE SENTELLE: Yes.

JUDGE TATEL: - - that you’re denying them 
that possibility.

MR. BRAGA: There was - -

JUDGE SENTELLE: So, if you were to make 
a new motion - -

JUDGE TATEL: Yes.

JUDGE SENTELLE: - - down below the 
satisfy the plea - -

JUDGE TATEL: Yes.

JUDGE SENTELLE: - - you probably could 
do so - -

JUDGE TATEL: Right.

JUDGE SENTELLE: - - I don’t know. But I 
don’t understand how the Court can do what you’re 
wanting it to do here.

JUDGE TATEL: Right.

MR. BRAGA: I see that my time is up.

37a
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JUDGE SENTELLE: It is. We’ll give you 
back a couple minutes for rebuttal, if necessary. 
Hear from the Government.

ORAL ARGUMENT OF DEMETRA LAMBROS, 
ESQ.

ON BEHALF OF THE APPELLEE

MS. LAMBROS: May it please the 
Court, I’m Demetra Lambros for the Government.

Absolutely, the District Court didn’t have the 
power to do what Scanlon wanted it to do, which was 
to strip out the heart of the plea agreement, all that 
restitution, and to sentence him based on what’s left. 
That’s what he’s asked this Court to do, too, to 
basically send it back to be re-sentenced. He can’t do 
that. And just to be clear, in the plea agreement 
itself, Scanlon admitted, it’s at J.A. 22, that 
restitution to the victim [s] is mandatory. He 
recognized that. And at the plea hearing itself, 
which is at J.A. 52, the Court said, the Court has no 
choice, this is during the plea colloquy itself, the 
Court has no choice but to impose the restitution in 
the amount that has been agreed on.

JUDGE SENTELLE: I don’t know how that 
has a lot to do with the position you’re in now.

MS. LAMBROS: It doesn’t. I’m simply - -

JUDGE SENTELLE: Right.

MS. LAMBROS: - - responding to Mr. 
Scanlon’s - -
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JUDGE SENTELLE: Okay.

MS. LAMBROS: - - argument that well, the 
Court had discretion under the plea agreement, and 
it in fact didn’t.

JUDGE SENTELLE: But it is right - -

MS. LAMBROS: Restitution is mandatory.

JUDGE SENTELLE: - - that if the Skittling 
analysis applies the identity of victims might be 
different, and therefore the amount of restitution 
might be different.

MS. LAMBROS: The remedy would be 
different if he’s right, conceivably. But again, he 
can’t ask to -- -

JUDGE SENTELLE: Right.

MS. LAMBROS: - - strip out the heart of the 
agreement.

JUDGE SENTELLE: So, all of this that 
you’re talking about now doesn’t really matter to 
your position in the case now.

MS. LAMBROS: No, it only matters to the 
extent that - -

JUDGE SENTELLE: Okay.
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MS. LAMBROS: - - the District Court did not 
even have the discretion to take out this mandatory 
restitution.

JUDGE SENTELLE: Okay.

MS. LAMBROS: If you don’t want to hear 
about the Skilling or the other claims I will rest on 
my briefs.

JUDGE SENTELLE: All right. Thank you, 
Counsel.

MS. LAMBROS: Thank you.

JUDGE SENTELLE: I don’t believe there’s 
much - - do you need to rebut, Counsel?

ORAL ARGUMENT OF STEPHEN L. BRAGA, ESQ.
ON BEHALF OF THE APPELLANT

MR. BRAGA: I would just point the Court to 
the first two - -

JUDGE SENTELLE: We’ll give you a minute.
MR. BRAGA: Thank you, Your Honor. I got 

all dressed up, I want to use my minute.

JUDGE SENTELLE: Okay.

MR. BRAGA: Paragraph 14 of the plea 
agreement, J.A. 27, “The United States cannot and 
does not make any promise or representation as to 
what sentence the Defendant will receive, or what 
fines or restitution the Defendant may be ordered to 
pay. The Defendant understands that the sentence
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in this case will be determined solely by the Court.” 
Of course the Court had to look at who the victims 
were and what the offense was.

JUDGE SENTELLE: Yes.

MR. BRAGA: Thank you.

JUDGE SENTELLE: Thank you, Counsel.

(Recess.)

DIGITALLY SIGNED CERTIFICATE

I certify that the foregoing is a correct 
transcription of the electronic sound recording of the 
proceedings in the above-entitled matter.

____/s/ Paula Underwood ___________

Paula Underwood February 5, 2012

DEPOSITION SERVICES, INC.
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APPENDIX E

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA:
Criminal

Number:

v.

VIOLATION:

Count One:
18 U.S.C. § 371 
(Conspiracy)

MICHAEL P.S. SCANLON,

Defendant.

INFORMATION

The United States charges that:

COUNT ONE 
18 U.S.C. § 371 -  Conspiracy

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS:

1. From in or about March 2000 through 
in or about 2001, Defendant Michael P.S. Scanlon 
(“SCANLON”) was employed by two different 
national law firms in Washington, D.C., at which he
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worked with a lobbyist who sought and represented 
clients for lobbying services throughout the United 
States and overseas (“Lobbyist A”).

2. In or about January 2001, SCANLON 
established a business called Capital Campaign 
Strategies LLC which had its principal offices in 
Washington, D.C. Capital Campaign Strategies LLC 
was purportedly formed to provide grass roots work, 
public relations services, and election campaign 
support. Scanlon also formed other companies that 
were used primarily to receive money for the services 
and work performed by others (collectively referred 
to as “CCS”).

3. At all relevant times, Lobbyist A 
solicited and obtained business with groups and 
businesses operating and interested in operating 
gambling casinos throughout the United States, 
including Native American Indian governments.

THE CONSPIRACY AND ITS OBJECTS

4. Beginning in at least January 2000 
through in or about at least April 2004, in the 
District of Columbia and elsewhere, the defendant,

MICHAEL P.S. SCANLON,

did knowingly conspire, confederate and agree with 
Lobbyist A and with other persons known and 
unknown to the United States to commit offenses 
against the United States; that is to:

(1) corruptly offer and provide things of value, 
including money, meals, trips and entertainment
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to federal public officials in return for agreements 
to perform officials acts benefitting SCANLON, 
Lobbyist A, and their clients, in violation of 18 
U.S.C. § 201(b);

(2) devise a scheme and artifice to defraud the 
clients of SCANLON and Lobbyist A of money 
and property through materially false and 
fraudulent misrepresentations, in violation of 18 
U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343; and

(3) devise a scheme and artifice to defraud and 
deprive Lobbyist A’s clients of their right to 
Lobbyist A’s honest services, performed free from 
deceit, fraud, concealment, conflict of interest, 
and self-dealing, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341, 
1343, and 1346.

PURPOSE OF THE CONSPIRACY

5. It was a purpose of the conspiracy for 
SCANLON and Lobbyist A to enrich themselves by 
obtaining substantial funds from their clients 
through fraud and concealment and through 
obtaining benefits for their clients through corrupt 
means.

MANNER AND MEANS

6. The conspiracy was carried out through 
the following manner and means:

A. Lobbyist A would persuade clients that 
they needed to hire CCS exclusively to perform 
certain grass roots and public relations services to
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accomplish the goals that Lobbyist A identified for 
them.

B. To obtain lucrative contracts, 
SCANLON and Lobbyist A would also make 
representations to clients about work to be 
performed that was not in fact what they did or 
intended to do.

C. SCANLON, through CCS, would charge 
Lobbyist A’s clients prices that incorporated huge 
profit margins.

D. SCANLON, through CCS, would then 
kick-back to Lobbyist A fifty-percent of CCS’s net 
profits from Lobbyist A’s clients through payments 
to a variety of entities owned and controlled by 
Lobbyist A, and SCANLON and Lobbyist A would 
conceal these kickbacks from their clients.

E. SCANLON and Lobbyist A would 
falsely represent to their clients that certain of the 
funds requested were being used for specific 
purposes, when in fact, SCANLON and Lobbyist A 
would use those funds for their own personal benefit 
and not for the benefit of their clients.

F. SCANLON and Lobbyist A would offer 
and provide things of value to federal public officials, 
including trips, campaign contributions, meals and 
entertainment in exchange for agreements that the 
public officials would use their official positions and 
influence to benefit SCANLON’s and Lobbyist A’s 
clients and Lobbyist A’s businesses.
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OVERT ACTS

7. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to 
achieve its purposes, SCANLON and Lobbyist A 
committed the following overt acts, among others, in 
the District of Columbia and elsewhere:

Fraud Scheme

Mississippi Tribe

8. In or about 1995, Lobbyist A solicited a 
Native American Indian tribal client based in 
Mississippi (“Mississippi Tribe”) to hire him to 
provide lobbying services on various issues, 
including taxation of the tribe by the Federal 
government as well as other issues relating to Tribal 
sovereignty, and the Mississippi Tribe hired 
Lobbyist A. As SCANLON well knew and believed, 
Lobbyist A used his knowledge of lobbying and grass 
roots work, which was superior to the Mississippi 
Tribe’s knowledge of these areas, to secure the trust 
and confidence of the Mississippi Tribe.

9. In or about early 2001, Lobbyist A 
recommended and advised the Mississippi Tribe to 
hire SCANLON’s company, CCS, while concealing 
the fact that Lobbyist A would receive fifty percent of 
the profits from the Mississippi Tribe’s payments to 
SCANLON.

10. From in or about June 2001 until in or 
about April 2004, SCANLON, through CCS, sought 
and received from the Mississippi Tribe
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approximately $14,765,000, all the while concealing 
from the Mississippi Tribe that fifty-percent of the 
profit, approximately $6,365,000, was kicked-back to 
Lobbyist A pursuant to their secret arrangement.

Louisiana Tribe

11. In or about March 2001, Lobbyist A and 
SCANLON solicited a Native American Indian tribal 
client based in Louisiana (“Louisiana Tribe”) to hire 
them to provide lobbying and grass roots services to 
the tribe. As SCANLON well knew and believed, 
Lobbyist A used his knowledge of lobbying and grass 
roots work, which was superior to the Louisiana 
Tribe’s knowledge of these areas, to secure the trust 
and confidence of the Louisiana Tribe.

12. In or about March 2001, after SCANLON had 
been paid for the first project, Lobbyist A 
recommended and advised the Louisiana Tribe to 
rehire SCANLON’s company, CCS, while concealing 
the fact that Lobbyist A would receive fifty percent of 
the profits from the Tribe’s payments to SCANLON.

13. From in or about March 2001 to in or about 
May 2003, SCANLON sought and received 
approximately $30,510,000, through CCS, all the 
while concealing from the Louisiana Tribe that fifty- 
percent of the profit, approximately $10,944,000, 
including money that was not passed through CCS, 
was kicked-back to Lobbyist A pursuant to their 
secret arrangement.
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Michigan Tribe

14. In or about January 2002, Lobbyist A 
and SCANLON solicited a Native American Indian 
tribal client based in Michigan (“Michigan Tribe”) to 
hire them to provide lobbying and grass roots 
services to the tribe. As SCANLON well knew and 
believed, Lobbyist A used his knowledge of lobbying 
and grass roots work, which was superior to the 
Michigan Tribe’s knowledge of these areas, to secure 
the trust and confidence of the Michigan Tribe.

15. In or about June 2002, Lobbyist A 
recommended and advised the Michigan Tribe to 
expand its contract with SCANLON’s company, 
CCS, while concealing the fact that Lobbyist A would 
receive fifty percent of the profits from the Michigan 
Tribe’s payments to SCANLON.

16. From in or about June 2002 to in or 
about October 2003, SCANLON sought and received 
approximately $3,500,000, through CCS, all the 
while concealing from the Michigan Tribe that fifty- 
percent of the profit, approximately $540,000, was 
kicked-back to Lobbyist A pursuant to their secret 
arrangement.

Texas Tribe

17. In or about January 2002, Lobbyist A 
and SCANLON solicited a Native American Indian 
tribal client based in Texas (“Texas Tribe”) to hire 
them to provide lobbying and grass roots services to 
the tribe. Lobbyist A misrepresented to the Texas 
Tribe that he would work for free in anticipation of 
receiving a long-term lucrative contract in the
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future. As SCANLON well knew and believed, 
Lobbyist A’s representation that he would work for 
free was false because SCANLON intended to pay 
and did pay the fifty-percent kickback due Lobbyist 
A under the secret arrangement Lobbyist A had with 
SCANLON.

18. In or about March 2002, SCANLON 
sought and received approximately $4,200,000, 
through CCS, all the while concealing from the 
Texas Tribe that fifty-percent of the profit, 
approximately $1,850,000, was kicked-back to 
Lobbyist A pursuant to their secret arrangement.

Corruption Scheme

19. From in or about January 2000 through 
in or about April 2004, SCANLON and Lobbyist A, 
together and separately, provided a stream of things 
to value to Representative #1 and members of his 
staff, including but not limited to a lavish trip to 
Scotland to play golf on world-famous courses, 
tickets to sporting events and other entertainment, 
regular meals at Lobbyist A’s upscale restaurant, 
and campaign contributions for Representative #1, 
his political action committee, and other political 
committees on behalf of Representative #1.

20. From in or about January 2000 through 
in or about April 2004, SCANLON and Lobbyist A, 
together and separately, sought and received 
Representative # l ’s agreement to perform a series of 
official acts, including but not limited to, agreements 
to support and pass legislation, agreements to place 
statements into the Congressional Record, meetings 
with Lobbyist A and SCANLON’s clients, and
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advancing the application of a client of Lobbyist A 
for a license to install wireless telephone 
infrastructure in the House of Representatives.

All in violation of Title 18, United States 
Code, Section 371.

NOEL L. HILLMAN 
Chief, Public Integrity Section

___________________________  Date:
Mary K. Butler 
M. Kendall Day 
Trial Attorneys

PAUL E. PELLETIER 
Acting Chief, Fraud Section

Guy D. Singer 
Nathaniel B. Edmonds 
Trial Attorneys

Date:
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APPENDIX F

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

FILED 
Nov 21 2005 

Nancy Mayer Whittington, Clerk 
U.S. District Court

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA: Criminal 
Number:

05-411 (ESH)

VIOLATION:

Count One:
18 U.S.C. :§ 371 

v. : (Conspiracy)

MICHAEL P.S. SCANLON,

Defendant.

PLEA AGREEMENT

Pursuant to Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of 
Criminal Procedure, the United States of America 
and the defendant, MICHAEL P.S. SCANLON, 
agree as follows:
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1. The defendant is entering into this agreement 
and is pleading guilty freely and voluntarily without 
promise or benefit of any kind, other than contained 
herein, and without threats, force, intimidation, or 
coercion of any kind.

2. The defendant knowingly, voluntarily and 
truthfully admits the facts contained in the attached 
Factual Basis for Plea.

3. The defendant agrees to waive indictment and 
plead guilty to the offense charged in the attached 
Information which is one count of conspiracy to 
violate federal law, specifically bribery in violation of 
18 U.S.C. § 201; property mail and wire fraud in 
violation of Title 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343; and 
honest services mail and wire fraud in violation of 
Title 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341, 1343, and 1346, all in 
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371. The defendant admits 
that he is guilty of this crime, and the defendant 
understands that he will be adjudicated guilty of this 
offense if the Court accepts his guilty plea.

4. The defendant understands the nature of the 
offense to which he is pleading guilty, and the 
elements thereof, including the penalties provided by 
law. The maximum penalty for violating the law 
specified in the Information is five years of 
imprisonment, a fine of $250,000, and a mandatory 
special assessment of $100. The defendant 
understands that the Court may impose a term of 
supervised release to follow any incarceration, in 
accordance with 18 U.S.C. § 3583. The authorized 
term of supervised release is not more than three 
years. The defendant also understands that the
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Court will impose restitution, and may impose costs 
of incarceration, and costs of supervision.

5. The defendant understands and agrees that 
restitution to victims of this offense is mandatory. 
The loss to the victims is estimated to be 
$19,698,644. The parties understand that under the 
law the defendant is entitled to argue for offsets 
based on the amounts paid or agreed to be paid to 
those victims by potentially responsible third 
parties. The defendant agrees not to transfer or 
otherwise encumber his assets except with notice to, 
and consent of, the undersigned representatives of 
the United States until such time as this agreement 
is filed with the Court, at which point the defendant 
must seek leave of Court to transfer or otherwise 
encumber his assets. The parties agree that the 
defendant will not be required to obtain the consent 
of the United States for property transfers necessary 
to pay ordinary living expenses, ordinary business 
expenses and attorneys fees. The defendant agrees 
as part of this agreement that he will provide to the 
United States detailed information about his income, 
assets, expenses and liabilities within 30 days of the 
date of this agreement. Thereafter, Scanlon will 
provide on a monthly basis and as otherwise 
requested a report of all financial transactions 
valued at $5,000 or more, including all income, 
expenditures and transfers of funds or property.

6. If the Court accepts the defendant’s plea of 
guilty and the defendant fulfills each of the terms 
and conditions of this agreement, the United States 
agrees that it will not further prosecute the 
defendant for crimes described in the factual basis 
attached as Exhibit A or disclosed by Scanlon in
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debriefing sessions with the United States on or 
before November 9, 2005. Nothing in this agreement 
is intended to provide any limitation of liability 
arising out of any acts of violence.

7. The defendant understands and agrees that 
federal sentencing law requires the Court to impose 
a sentence which is reasonable and that the Court 
must consider the advisory U.S. Sentencing 
Guidelines in effect at the time of the sentencing in 
determining a reasonable sentence. Defendant also 
understands that sentencing is within the discretion 
of the Court and that the Court is not bound by this 
agreement. Defendant understands that facts that 
determine the offense level will be found by the 
Court at sentencing and that in making those 
determinations the Court may consider any reliable 
evidence, including hearsay, as well as provisions or 
stipulations in this plea agreement. Both parties 
agree to recommend that the sentencing guidelines 
should apply pursuant to United States v. Booker 
and that they provide a fair and just resolution 
based upon the facts of this case. Defendant further 
understands the obligation of the United States to 
provide all relevant information regarding 
defendant, including charged and uncharged 
criminal offenses, to the United States Probation 
Office. Defendant also states that he has had ample 
opportunity to discuss, and has in fact discussed, the 
impact of the sentencing guidelines and the 
statutory maximum sentence with his attorney and 
is satisfied with his attorney’s advice in this case.

8. The defendant understands and agrees that 
the United States reserves, at the time of 
sentencing, the right of allocution, that is the right
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to describe fully, both orally and in writing, to the 
Court the nature, seriousness and impact of the 
defendant’s misconduct related to the charges 
against him or to any factor lawfully pertinent to the 
sentence in this case. The United States will also 
advise the court of the nature, extent and timing of 
the defendant’s cooperation. The defendant further 
understands and agrees that in exercising this right, 
the United States may solicit and make known the 
views of the law enforcement agencies which 
investigated this matter.

9. The defendant and the United States agree 
that the following United States Sentencing 
Guidelines (“U.S.S.G.”) apply based upon the facts of 
this case:

a. The parties agree that the 2003 Sentencing 
Guidelines Manual governs the guideline 
calculations in this case. All references in this 
agreement to the U.S.S.G. refer to that manual.

b. The parties agree that the total offense 
level applicable to the defendant’s offense conduct is 
Level 24. This level is calculated as follows:

I. Fraud Offenses:

Base Offense level § 2B 1.1 6

§ 2Bl.l(b)(l)(L) loss of more than 20 

$7,000,000

26
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II. Corruption Offenses:

Base Offense level § 2C1.1 10

§§ 2C1.1(b)(1) and (2)(B) 2

§ 2C 1.1 (b)(2)(b) 8

20

III.Treatment of Multiple Objects

§ 3Dl.4(b) 1

IV. Expected Adjustment under § 3E1.1 3̂

24

c. As indicated above, the United States 
agrees that it will recommend that the Court reduce 
by three levels the sentencing guideline applicable to 
the defendant’s offense, pursuant to U.S.S.G. 
§ 3E1.1, based upon the defendant’s recognition and 
affirmative and timely acceptance of personal 
responsibility. The United States, however, will not 
be required to make these recommendations if any of 
the following occurs: (1) defendant fails or refuses to 
make a full, accurate and complete disclosure to this 
office or the probation office of the circumstances 
surrounding the relevant offense conduct and his 
present financial condition; (2) defendant is found to 
have misrepresented facts to the United States prior 
to entering this plea agreement; (3) defendant 
commits any misconduct after entering into this plea 
agreement, including but not limited to, committing
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a state or federal offense, violating any term of 
release, or making false statements or 
misrepresentations to any governmental entity or 
official; or (4) defendant fails to comply with any 
terms of this plea agreement.

d. The defendant understands that his 
Criminal History Category will be determined by the 
Court after the completion of a Pre-Sentence 
Investigation by the U.S. Probation Office. The 
defendant acknowledges that the United States has 
not promised or agreed that the defendant will or 
will not fall within any particular criminal history 
category and that such determination could affect 
his guideline range and/or offense level as well as his 
final sentence.

10. The defendant and the United States agree 
that neither party will seek or advocate for or 
suggest in any way an adjustment to or a departure 
from the sentencing guidelines other than those 
explicitly set forth in this agreement or for a 
sentence outside of the range determined to be 
applicable under the advisory Sentencing 
Guidelines, provided that those guidelines are 
calculated as set forth above.

11. The parties agree that U.S.S.G. § 5E1.2 
provides that the Court shall impose a fine for a 
guideline offense at level 24 of $10,000 to $100,000, 
unless the Court finds that the defendant is unable 
to pay a fine. The defendant understands that the 
Court must order that the defendant make 
restitution to victims of these offenses for the full 
amount of the loss. The Court may take restitution 
into account in imposing a fine.
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12. The defendant agrees to fully cooperate in this 
and any other case or investigation with attorneys 
for the United States of America, and federal and 
state law enforcement agencies by providing truthful 
and complete information, evidence and testimony, if 
required, concerning any matter. The defendant 
understands that if  he makes material false 
statements intentionally to law enforcement, 
commits perjury, suborns perjury, or obstructs 
justice, he may be found to have breached this 
agreement and nothing in this agreement precludes 
the United States of America or any other law 
enforcement authority from prosecuting him fully for 
those crimes or any other crimes of which he may be 
guilty and from using any of his sworn or unsworn 
statements against him. The defendant understands 
that this plea agreement is explicitly dependent 
upon his providing completely truthful testimony in 
any trial or other proceeding, whether called as a 
witness by the government, the defense or the Court.

13. Further, in the event that the United States 
determines in its exclusive discretion that the 
defendant has fully complied with this agreement 
and provided “substantial assistance” to law 
enforcement officers in the investigation and 
prosecution of others, the United States agrees it 
will file a motion for a downward departure 
pursuant to Section 5K1.1 and 18 U.S.C. § 3553(e) of 
the United States Sentencing Guidelines or Rule 35 
of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, 
respectively. Such assistance by the defendant shall 
include his cooperation in providing truthful and 
complete testimony before any grand jury and at any 
trial as requested by the United States and in 
interviews by investigators. If the United States



59a

files a motion either under § 5K1.1 of the guidelines 
or Rule 35, both parties will have the right to 
present facts regarding Scanlon’s cooperation and to 
argue for the extent of the departure that is 
appropriate based on the defendant’s cooperation. 
However, the defendant further understands that 
the decision whether to depart, and the extent of any 
departure for substantial assistance is the exclusive 
province of the Court.

14. The United States can not and does not make 
any promise or representation as to what sentence 
the defendant will receive or what fines or 
restitution the defendant may be ordered to pay. 
The defendant understands that the sentence in this 
case will be determined solely by the Court, with the 
assistance of the United States Probation Office and 
that the Court may impose the maximum sentence 
permitted by the law. The Court is not obligated to 
follow the recommendations of either party at the 
time of sentencing. The defendant will not be 
permitted to withdraw his plea regardless of the 
sentence recommended by the Probation Office or 
the sentence imposed by the Court.

15. The defendant, knowing and understanding 
all of the facts set out herein, including the 
maximum possible penalty that could be imposed, 
and knowing and understanding his right to appeal 
the sentence as provided in 18 U.S.C. § 3742, hereby 
expressly waives the right to appeal any sentence 
within the maximum provided in the statute of 
conviction or the manner in which that sentence was 
determined and imposed, including on the grounds 
set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 3742, in exchange for the 
concessions made by the United States in this plea
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agreement. This agreement does not affect the 
rights or obligations of the Untied States as set forth 
in 18 U.S.C. § 3742(b).

16. If the defendant fails to comply with any of 
the terms and conditions set forth in this agreement, 
the United States may fully prosecute the defendant 
on all criminal charges that can be brought against 
the defendant. With respect to such a prosecution:

a. The defendant shall assert no claim under 
the United States Constitution, any statute, Rule 
410 of the Federal Rules of Evidence, Rule 11(e)(6) of 
the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, or any 
other federal rule, that the defendant’s statements 
pursuant to this agreement or any leads derived 
therefrom should be suppressed or are inadmissible;

b. The defendant waives any right to claim 
that evidence presented in such prosecution is 
tainted by virtue of the statements the defendant 
has made; and

c. The defendant waives any and all defenses 
based on the statute of limitations with respect to 
any such prosecution that is not time-barred on the 
date that this agreement is signed by the parties.

17. If a dispute arises as to whether the defendant 
has knowingly committed any material breach of 
this agreement, and the United States chooses to 
exercise its rights under Paragraph 16, at the 
defendant’s request, the matter shall be submitted to 
the Court for its determination in an appropriate 
proceeding. At such proceeding, the defendant’s 
disclosures and documents shall be admissible and
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the United States shall have the burden to establish 
the defendant’s breach by a preponderance of the 
evidence.

18. The parties agree that if the Court does not 
accept the defendant’s plea of guilty, then this 
agreement shall be null and void.

19. The defendant understands that this 
agreement is binding only upon the Public Integrity 
Section and the Fraud Section of the Criminal 
Division of the United States Department of Justice 
and the United States Attorney’s Office for the 
Southern District of Florida. This agreement does 
not bind any other prosecutor’s office or agency. It 
does not bar or compromise any civil claim that has 
been or may be made against the defendant.

20. This agreement and the attached Factual 
Basis for Plea constitute the entire agreement 
between the United States and the defendant. No 
other promises, agreements, or representations exist 
or have been made to the defendant or the 
defendant’s attorneys by the Department of Justice 
in connection with this case. This agreement may be 
amended only by a writing signed by all parties.

FOR THE UNITED STATES

Dated: November 17, 2005___
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NOEL L. HILLMAN 
Chief, Public Integrity Section

______ Is/__________________
Mary K. Butler 
M. Kendall Day 
Trial Attorneys 
Criminal Division 
U.S. Department of Justice

PAUL E. PELLETIER 
Acting Chief, Fraud Section

_________ Is/__________________
Guy D. Singer 
Nathaniel B. Edmonds 
Trial Attorneys 
Criminal Division 
U.S. Department of Justice

R. ALEXANDER ACOSTA 
United States Attorney 
Southern District of Florida

_______ /s/________________
For Lawrence D. LaVecchio 

Paul F. Schwartz 
Assistant U.S. Attorneys

FOR THE DEFENDANT
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Dated: _______ 11/11/05_

_____________ Is/__________
MICHAEL P.S. SCANLON 
Defendant

J s /  Stephen Braga/ J S H _
STEPHEN BRAGA, ESQ. 
Counsel for Defendant

Plato Cacheris /  JFH

____________ John F. Hundley
PLATO CACHERIS, ESQ. 
Counsel for Defendant


